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ATTENTION ALL PARTIES AND COUNSEL  

PLEASE REVIEW PARTIES AND COUNSEL LISTING  

 

We have opened this appeal/petition based on the information provided to us by 

the appellant/petitioner and/or the lower court or agency. EVERY attorney and 

unrepresented litigant receiving this notice MUST immediately review the caption 

and service list for this case and notify the Court of any corrections. 

Failure to ensure that all parties and counsel are accurately listed on our docket, 

and that counsel are registered and admitted, may result in your inability to 

participate in and/or receive notice of filings in this case, and may also result in the 

waiver of claims or defenses.  

PARTY LISTING: 

Notify the Clerk immediately if you (as an unrepresented litigant) or your client(s) 

are not properly and accurately listed or identified as a party to the appeal/petition. 

To report an inaccurate identification of a party (including company names, 

substitution of government officials appearing only in their official capacity, or 

spelling errors), or to request that a party who is listed only by their lower court 

role (such as plaintiff/defendant/movant) be listed as a party to the appeal/petition 

as an appellee or respondent so that the party can appear in this Court and submit 

filings, contact the Help Desk at http://www.ca9.uscourts.gov/cmecf/feedback/ or 

send a letter to the Clerk. If you or your client were identified as a party to the 

appeal/petition in the notice of appeal/petition for review or representation 

statement and you believe this is in error, file a motion to dismiss as to those 

parties. 

COUNSEL LISTING: 

In addition to reviewing the caption with respect to your client(s) as discussed 

above, all counsel receiving this notice must also review the electronic notice of 

docket activity or the service list for the case to ensure that the correct counsel are 
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listed for your clients. If appellate counsel are not on the service list, they must file 

a notice of appearance or substitution immediately or contact the Clerk's office. 

NOTE that in criminal and habeas corpus appeals, trial counsel WILL remain as 

counsel of record on appeal until or unless they are relieved or replaced by Court 

order. See Ninth Circuit Rule 4-1. 

REGISTRATION AND ADMISSION TO PRACTICE: 

Every counsel listed on the docket must be admitted to practice before the Ninth 

Circuit AND registered for electronic filing in the Ninth Circuit in order to remain 

or appear on the docket as counsel of record. See Ninth Circuit Rules 25-5(a) and 

46-1.2. These are two separate and independent requirements and doing one does 

not satisfy the other. If you are not registered and/or admitted, you MUST, within 7 

days from receipt of this notice, register for electronic filing AND apply for 

admission, or be replaced by substitute counsel or otherwise withdraw from the 

case. 

If you are not registered for electronic filing, you will not receive further notices of 

filings from the Court in this case, including important scheduling orders and 

orders requiring a response. Failure to respond to a Court order or otherwise meet 

an established deadline can result in the dismissal of the appeal/petition for failure 

to prosecute by the Clerk pursuant to Ninth Circuit Rule 42-1, or other action 

adverse to your client. 

If you will be replaced by substitute counsel, new counsel should file a notice of 

appearance/substitution (no form or other attachment is required) and should note 

that they are replacing existing counsel. To withdraw without replacement, you 

must electronically file a notice or motion to withdraw as counsel from this 

appeal/petition and include your client's contact information.  

To register for electronic filing, and for more information about Ninth Circuit 

CM/ECF, visit our website at http://www.ca9.uscourts.gov/cmecf/#section-

registration. 

To apply for admission, see the instructions and form application available on our 

website at https://www.ca9.uscourts.gov/attorneys/. 
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 In the  
United States Court of Appeals  

For the  
Ninth Circuit 

 
 

IN RE ANDREW FLORES, an individual, AMY SHERLOCK, on her own behalf and 
on behalf of her minor children, T.S. and S.S., and JANE DOE, an individual,1 

Petitioners, 
vs. 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE  
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, 

 
Respondent, 

 
GINA M. AUSTIN, an individual, AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP APC, a California 

Corporation; JOEL R. WOHLFEIL, an individual; LAWRENCE (“LARRY”) GERACI, 
an individual; TAX & FINANCIAL CENTER, INC., a California Corporation; 

REBECCA BERRY, an individual;  JESSICA MCELFRESH, an individual; SALAM 
RAZUKI, an individual; NINUS MALAN, an individual;  MICHAEL ROBERT 

WEINSTEIN, an individual; SCOTT TOOTHACRE, an individual; ELYSSA KULAS, 
an individual; RACHEL M. PRENDERGAST, an individual; FERRIS & BRITTON 

APC, a California Corporation;  DAVID DEMIAN, an individual, ADAM C. WITT, an 
individual, RISHI S. BHATT, an individual, FINCH, THORTON, and BAIRD, a 

Limited Liability Partnership; JAMES D. CROSBY, an individual; ABHAY 
SCHWEITZER, an individual and dba TECHNE; JAMES (AKA JIM) BARTELL, an 

individual; BARTELL & ASSOCIATES, a California Corporation; MATTHEW 
WILLIAM SHAPIRO, an individual;   MATTHEW W. SHAPIRO, APC, a California 

corporation; NATALIE TRANG-MY NGUYEN, an individual, AARON MAGAGNA, 
an individual; A-M INDUSTRIES, INC., a California Corporation; BRADFORD 

HARCOURT, an individual; ALAN CLAYBON, an individual; SHAWN MILLER, an 
individual; LOGAN STELLMACHER, an individual; EULENTHIAS DUANE 

ALEXANDER, an individual; BIANCA MARTINEZ; an individual; THE CITY OF 
SAN DIEGO, a municipality; 2018FMO, LLC, a California Limited Liability Company; 

 
1 Jane Doe’s estate has withdrawn their consent for attorney-petitioner Andrew Flores to 
continue to represent her in the underlying manner as a result of the of the issuance of the 
order that is the subject of this writ. 
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FIROUZEH TIRANDAZI, an individual; STEPHEN G. CLINE, an individual; JOHN 
DOE, an individual; JOHN EK, an individual; THE EK FAMILY TRUST, 1994 Trust; 

DARRYL COTTON, an individual 
Real Parties In Interest. 

  
 
FROM A DECISION OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT 

OF CALIFORNIA 
CASE NO. 20-CV-656-BAS-DEB 

 
 

PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS EMERGENCY MOTION UNDER 
CIRCUIT RULE 27-3 

 
RELIEF REQUESTED BY JULY 3, 2020 

 
 
 

ANDREW FLORES,  
945 4th Avenue, Suite 412  
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619.256.1556  
Facsimile:  619.274.8053 
Andrew@FloresLegal.Pro 

Petitioner In Propria Persona, 
and counsel for Petitioners 
Amy Sherlock and her minor  
children T.S. and S.S. 
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INTRODUCTION 
Lawrence Geraci has been sued and sanctioned at least three times by the City of 

San Diego (the “City”) for his owning/management of illegal marijuana dispensaries at 
his real properties.  Consequently, pursuant to State of California (the “State”) and City 
laws, regulations and public policies, Geraci cannot own a conditional use permit 
(“CUP”) or license to operate a legal cannabis dispensary as a matter of law (the 
“Sanctions Issue”). 

Darryl Cotton is the owner-of-record of real property (the “Property”) in the City 
that qualifies for a cannabis CUP.  Geraci, in order to prevent Cotton from selling the 
Property to a third-party, fraudulently induced Cotton into entering an oral joint venture 
agreement and promised to provide Cotton, inter alia, a 10% equity position in the CUP 
as consideration for the Property (the “JVA”).  However, Geraci could not actually honor 
the JVA because he could not own a cannabis CUP because of the Sanctions Issue.  

To unlawfully circumvent the Sanctions Issue, Geraci submitted a CUP application 
at the Property using his secretary, Rebecca Berry, as a proxy (the “Berry Application”).  
In the Berry Application, in violation of applicable disclosure laws, regulations and the 
plain language of the City’s CUP application forms that she certified she understood, 
Berry knowingly and falsely certified that she is the true and sole owner of the CUP being 
applied for (the “Berry Fraud” and, collectively with the Sanctions Issue, the “Illegality 
Issues”). 

Cotton discovered the Berry Fraud and demanded that Geraci reduce the JVA to 
writing.  Geraci refused, Cotton then terminated the JVA with Geraci and entered into a 
written joint venture agreement with Richard Martin (petitioner-attorney Andrew Flores’ 
predecessor in interest).  The next day, Geraci’s attorneys from the law firm of Ferris & 
Britton (“F&B”) served Cotton with a sham action, Cotton I2, and a recorded lis pendens 
on the Property (the “F&B Lis Pendens”).  The Cotton I complaint denies the existence 

 
2 “Cotton I” means Geraci v. Cotton, San Diego Superior Court, Case No. 37-2017-
00010073-CU-BC-22 CTL. 
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of the JVA and is predicated on the false allegation that a three-sentence document, 
executed as a receipt by Geraci and Cotton, is a contract for Geraci’s purchase of the 
Property (the “November Document”). 

Demonstrating the favorable systemic judicial bias in favor of wealthy and white 
litigants and attorneys,3 Geraci and his attorneys successfully tried Cotton I before Judge 
Joel R. Wohlfeil.  The Cotton I judgment enforces an alleged contract (i) that cannot be a 
contract as a matter of law and (ii) whose object is Geraci’s ownership of a cannabis CUP 
that he cannot own as a matter of law pursuant to the Berry Application because of the 
Illegality Issues.  Axiomatically, the Cotton I judgment is void for being the instrument 
pursuant to which a criminal conspiracy was effectuated:  “No principle of law is better 
settled than that a party to an illegal contract cannot come into a court of law and ask to 
have his illegal objects carried out.” Bassidji v. Goe, 413 F.3d 928, 938 (9th Cir. 2005) 
(quoting Lee On v. Long, 37 Cal.2d 499, 234 P.2d 9, 11 (1951)).  

Pursuant to FRCP 65(b), Petitioners filed an ex parte application in federal court 
seeking a temporary restraining order without notice (“TRO”) to stop the enforcement of 
the Cotton I judgment to prevent the irreparable loss of third-party testimony and property 
(the cannabis CUP at issue in Cotton I) (the “Application”).  Judge Bashant’s order denied 
the Application because Petitioners purportedly failed to comply with FRCP 65(b) and 
did so without addressing the Illegality Issues or the evidence of violence and coercion 
taken to intimidate a witness from providing her testimony in Cotton I (the “Order”) 
Exhibit No. 12.  

As demonstrated below, Petitioners did comply with FRCP 65(b).  However, 
arguendo, assuming Petitioners failed to comply with FRCP 65(b), Judge Bashant still 

 
3  See, gen., Kathleen Mahoney, Judicial Bias: The Ongoing Challenge, 2015 J. Disp. 
Resol. 43, 66 (2015); Justin D. Levinson & Robert J. Smith, Systemic Implicit Bias, 126 
YALE L.J. F. 406 (2017); Rachlinski, Jeffrey J., et al., “Does Unconscious Racial Bias 
Affect Trial Judges?”, 84 Notre Dame L. Rev. 1195, 1196 (2009) (“Justice is not blind. 
Researchers have found that black defendants fare worse in court than do their white 
counterparts.”); Scarnecchia, Suellyn. “Gender and Race Bias against Lawyers: A 
Classroom Response.” U. Mich. J. L. Reform 23 (1990).  
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had a duty sua sponte to address the illegality of the contract in the interest of the 
administration of justice.  California Pacific Bank v. Small Bus. Admin (“Pacific Bank”), 
557 F.2d 218, 223 (9th Cir. 1977) (“[O]ne cannot estop a party from asserting the 
illegality of a contract. The court has a duty sua sponte to raise the issue in the interest of 
the administration of justice.”) (Emphasis added). 

Corina Young is a third party with testimony damaging to Geraci in Cotton I whose 
testimony was repeatedly sought and subpoenaed.  Young’s testimony was never acquired 
and thus never presented to the jury in Cotton I for two reasons.  First, Young was 
successfully threatened from providing her testimony by Aaron Magagna, a client of Gina 
M. Austin, who also acts as one of Geraci’s attorneys who was responsible for the 
preparation and submission of the Berry Application.  Magagna is also the individual who 
ultimately acquired the cannabis CUP that was the object of Cotton I.   Second, Young 
was prevented from providing her testimony by her own attorney, Natalie Nguyen.  
Nguyen unilaterally canceled two deposition for Young and promised Cotton’s counsel 
to provide Young’s testimony before trial, but never provided it. Shortly before trial, 
Nguyen told Young it was “OK” to not provide her testimony “because it was too late for 
Cotton to do anything about it.”  Nguyen went to law school with Austin and were 
admitted to the California Bar on the same day.  Young had been referred to Nguyen for 
defense in the Cotton I action by her own cannabis attorney, Matthew Shapiro, who is 
also an attorney of Magagna and someone who has a close professional relationship with 
Austin (often making special appearances for her). 

The evidence presented to Judge Bashant, that Young was threatened and coerced 
from providing testimony, constitutes obstruction of justice and a fraud on the court 
(hereinafter, the “Obstruction of Justice Issue”).   At the very least, Judge Bashant should 
have held a hearing to determine the veracity of the evidence provided or to clear up any 
confusion she may have had regarding same.  Had the evidence in support of the 
Obstruction of Justice Issue been fabricated or misrepresented in any manner, then 
counsel for Petitioners should have been severely sanctioned for unjustifiably alleging 
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exigent circumstances.  But his evidence and arguments should not have been ignored 
and left completely unaddressed given the gravity of the allegations of violence against 
an innocent third-party; particularly as the illegality of the contract is an incontrovertible 
fact that once judicially established makes the allegations of violence and witness 
tampering not just possible, but virtually certain given the relationships of the parties. 

Judge Bashant’s failure to even address the evidence of violence and unlawful 
coercion by an officer of the court against a witness not only judicially ratifies such 
abhorrent conduct as a litigation strategy, if not corrected via mandamus, it shall serve as 
eternal precedent to embolden unscrupulous attorneys and violent individuals in the future 
to collude to take similar action.  Because of the temporal aspect of the relief requested, 
the very reason an ex parte TRO is possible without notice, this is not harmless error that 
can be remedied on remand even if the relief were subsequently granted by Judge Bashant. 

QUESTIONS PRESENTED 
1. Does the Cotton I judgment enforce an illegal contract? 
2. Did Petitioners fail to comply with the requirements of FRCP 65(b) for the 

issuance of a TRO without notice to prevent the loss of property and the loss of third-
party testimony? 

3. Did Judge Bashant have an independent and sua sponte affirmative duty to 
address whether the Cotton I judgment is void because of the Illegality Issues and the 
Obstruction of Justice Issue? 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
Geraci is part of a small group of wealthy individuals and attorneys (the 

“Enterprise”) in the City that have conspired to create an unlawful monopoly in the 
cannabis market (the “Antitrust Conspiracy”).  The Enterprise includes attorneys from 
multiple law firms that are used to create the appearance of competition and legitimacy, 
while, in reality, inter alia, the attorneys conspire against some of their own non-
Enterprise clients to ensure that virtually all cannabis CUPs in the City go to principals of 
the Enterprise. Cotton I was filed as an act in furtherance of the Antitrust Conspiracy. 
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Petitioners are all victims of the Antitrust Conspiracy. However, their individual 
cases must be made out with circumstantial evidence or facts that have not yet been 
judicially established.  Proving that Cotton I was filed as a sham action by Geraci and his 
attorneys is prima facie evidence of the Antitrust Conspiracy.  Judicially establishing as 
a matter of law that Geraci cannot own a cannabis CUP establishes liability against, inter 
alia, the City employees/attorneys who testified on Geraci’s behalf or ratified the Berry 
Application with the Berry Fraud.  Trevino v. Gates, 99 F.3d 911, 920 (9th Cir. 1996) 
(“We have found municipal liability on the basis of ratification when the officials 
involved adopted and expressly approved of the acts of others who caused the 
constitutional violation.”). 

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED 
Petitioners respectfully request oral argument.  The Antitrust Conspiracy accuses 

multiple City officials and employees, highly ostensibly reputable professionals, and 
prominent private and government attorneys of being complicit in a cannabis pay-to-play 
scheme in the City.  To date, nine judges4 have failed to address, inter alia, the Sanctions 
Issue (except for Judge Wohlfeil who only did so post-trial and found the defense of 
illegality had been waived).  Petitioners speculate that, in part, every judge that has failed 
to adjudicate the Sanctions Issue has done so because they assume the Antitrust 
Conspiracy is absurd and simply not possible. 

Thus, the narrow focus of this petition.  However, to the extent this Court wants to 
address the Antitrust Conspiracy or any other allegations set forth in Petitioners’ 
complaint giving rise to this petition, or if any of Petitioners’ adversaries produce or allege 

 
4 Judge Joel Wohlfeil and Judge Eddie C. Sturgeon in state court; Cotton filed two writs 
appealing Judge Wohlfeil’s orders that were before Justices Richard D. Huffman, Joan 
Irion, William S. Dato, Judith D. McConnell, and Patricia D. Benke; and Cotton’s federal 
actions have been before Judge Gonzalo P. Curiel (who recused himself after making 
several rulings), Judge Thomas J. Whelan (who also recused himself after receiving the 
case from Judge Curiel), and one is presently before Judge Cynthia A. Bashant (Cotton v. 
Geraci et al, 3:18-cv-00325-BAS-DEB). 
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evidence that purportedly negate the facts and arguments set forth herein (the record in 
Cotton I demonstrates that they have repeatedly and blatantly fabricated evidence and 
changed their judicial and evidentiary admissions without judicial consequence), 
Petitioners request an oral hearing to address any such concerns or alleged evidence.  

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

 THE SANCTIONS ISSUE 
1. On June 17, 2015, a Stipulated Judgement in City of San Diego v. 

CCSquared Wellness Cooperative, San Diego Superior Court Case No. Case No. 37-
2015-00004430-CU-MC-CTL, was filed in which Geraci judicially admitted that: “The 
address where the Defendants were maintaining a marijuana dispensary business at all 
times relevant to this action is 3505 Fifth Ave, San Diego [the ‘Geraci Property’].”   
(Exhibit No. 1 (the “CCSquared Judgment”) at ¶ 4 (emphasis added).) 

2. “The [Geraci Property] is owned by JL 6th Avenue Property, LLC (JL)… 
Defendants GERACI and KACHA are members of JL and hereby certify they have 
authority to sign for and bind herein.” (Id. at ¶¶ 4-5.) 

3. Geraci and his co-defendants were jointly sanctioned as “civil penalties” the 
amount of $25,000. (Id. ¶ 17.) 

 NEGOTIATIONS FOR THE PROPERTY AND THE NOVEMBER DOCUMENT 
Per Geraci’s sworn declaration: 
4. “In approximately September of 2015, I began lining up a team to assist in 

my efforts to develop and operate a [dispensary] in the [City].” (Exhibit No. 2 (Geraci 
Decl.), ¶ 2.) 

5. “I hired… design professional, Abhay Schweitzer of TECHNE[,] a public 
affairs and public relations consultant with experience in the industry, Jim Bartell of 
Bartell & Associates. In addition, I hired a land use attorney, Gina Austin of Austin Legal 
Group.” (Id.) 

6. “In approximately June 2016, [I was introduced to the Property] as a 
potential site for acquisition and development for use and operation as a [dispensary].” 
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(Id. at ¶ 3.) 
7. “[I]n approximately mid-July 2016… I expressed my interest to Mr. Cotton 

in acquiring his Property if our further investigation satisfied us that the Property might 
meet the requirements for [a dispensary] site.” (Id.) 

8. “On November 2, 2016, Mr. Cotton and I executed [the November 
Document.]”  (Id. at ¶ 5.) 

9. “After we signed the [November Document], Mr. Cotton immediately began 
attempts to renegotiate our deal for the purchase of the Property. This literally occurred 
the evening of the day he signed the [November Document].” (Id. at ¶ 10.) 

10. “On November 2, 2016, at approximately 6:55 p.m., Mr. Cotton sent me an 
email, which stated:  

 
Hi Larry, 
 
Thank you for meeting today. Since we [executed] the Purchase Agreement 
in your office for the sale price of the property I just noticed the 10% equity 
position in the dispensary was not language added into that document. I just 
want to make sure that we're not missing that language in any final agreement 
as it is a factored element in my decision to sell the property. I’ll be fine if 
you simply acknowledge that here in a reply.” 

 
(The “Request for Confirmation”) (Id. at ¶ 10 (emphasis added).) 

11. “I responded from my phone ‘No no problem at all.’” (The “Confirmation 
Email”) (Id. (emphasis added).) 

12. “The next day I read the entire email and I telephoned Mr. Cotton because 
the total purchase price I agreed to pay for the subject property was $800,000 and I had 
never agreed to provide him a 10% equity position in the dispensary as part of my 
purchase of the property.” (Id.) 

13. “Mr. Cotton's response was to say something to the effect of ‘well, you don't 
get what you don't ask for.’ He was not upset and he commented further to the effect that 
things are ‘looking pretty good-we all should make some money here.’ And that was the 
end of the discussion.” (The “Disavowment Allegation”) (Id.). 
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14. Geraci has no evidence other than his self-serving testimony that the 
Disavowment Allegation took place. (See, gen., id.) 

 THE BERRY FRAUD 
15. On October 31, 2016, Berry submitted the Berry application to the City. The 

Berry Application included Form DS-318 (Ownership Disclosure Statement) and Form 
DS-3032 (General Application).  (Exhibit No. 3. (Ownership Disclosure Statement) and 
Exhibit No. 4 (General Application).) 

16. In the General Application, Berry certified the following to be true: 
 

I certify that I have read this application and state the above information is 
correct, and that I am the property owner, authorized agent of the property 
owner, or other person having a legal right, interest, or entitlement to the use 
of the property that is the subject of this application (Municipal Code Section 
112.0102). I understand that the applicant is responsible for knowing and 
complying with the governing policies and regulations applicable to the 
proposed development or permit. 

 
(Exhibit 4.)  

17. The Ownership Disclosure Statement required Berry to provide a list that:  
 
… must include the names and addresses of all persons who have an interest 
in the property, recorded or otherwise, and state the type of interest (e.g., 
tenants who will benefit from the permit, all individuals who own the 
property). 

 
(Exhibit 3) (emphasis added). 

18. Berry did not disclose Geraci in any capacity in the Berry Application as 
required by the plain language of the Ownership Disclosure Statement. (See id.) 

19. Berry testified at trial in Cotton I that the failure to disclose Geraci was 
purposeful and purportedly because Geraci was an Enrolled Agent with the IRS.  Exhibit 
No. 5 (Cotton’s Motion for New Trial (the “MNT”)) at 26:19-27:5 (transcript of Berry’s 
testimony at Cotton I trial attached as an exhibit to the MNT). 

 THE OBSTRUCTION OF JUSTICE ISSUE 
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20. On January 21, 2019, Nguyen promised to provide Young’s testimony 
confirming, inter alia, the Bartell Statement and Magagna’s attempts at bribing and 
threatening her.  Exhibit No. 6 (email chain between Nguyen to Jacob). 

21. On June 12, 2019, after Nguyen failed to provide Young’s testimony for 
almost give months, despite repeated requests that she do so, Jacob emailed Nguyen 
demanding she provide Young’s promised testimony.  (Jacob Decl. ¶ 11; Exhibit No. 6) 
(email correspondence between Nguyen and Jacob between January 1, 2019 and June 12, 
2019 regarding Young’s testimony). 

a. The subpoena, served on Young on January 1, 2019, for deposition to 
be held on January 18, 2019 was unilaterally canceled by Nguyen and is attached to the 
Jacob Decl. as Exhibit 1. 

b. The notice amending the subpoena for the date of the deposition, 
served on Young on February 26, 2019, was unilaterally canceled by Nguyen and is 
attached to the Jacob Decl. as Exhibit 2. 

22. Nguyen never responded. (Jacob Decl. ¶ 12.) 
23. The Cotton I trial was held without Young’s testimony regarding Bartell or 

Magagna. (Jacob Decl. ¶ 12.) 

 THE MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL: THE WAIVER OF ILLEGALITY AS AN AFFIRMATIVE 
DEFENSE 

24. On September 13, 2019, after judgement was entered in favor of Geraci in 
Cotton I, Cotton filed a motion for new trial arguing, inter alia, it is illegal for Geraci to 
own a cannabis CUP via the Berry Application.  Exhibit No. 5 at 13:7-14:5 (MNT). 

25. On September 23, 2019, Geraci filed an opposition to the MNT in which he 
argued, inter alia, that Cotton had waived the defense of illegality. See Exhibit No. 7 
(Opp. to MNT) at 10:16-11:4 (“Mr. Cotton failed to raise ‘illegality’ as an affirmative 
defense in his Answer to Plaintiff’s Complaint (ROA #17).  Normally, affirmative 
defenses not raised in the answer to complaint or cross-complaint are waived.”). 

26. Cotton’s Reply to the MNT pointed out that Cotton factually had not and 
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legally could not waive the defense of illegality. Exhibit No. 8 (Reply to MNT) at 3:1-
4:20; id. at 3:9-13 (“The argument also ignores the well-established rule that ‘even though 
the defendant in their pleading do not allege the defense of illegality if the evidence shows 
the facts from which the illegality appears it becomes “‘the duty of the court sua sponte 
to refuse to entertain the action.’” May v. Herron (1954) 127 Cal.App.2d 707, 710 
(quoting Endicott v. Rosenthal (1932) 216, Cal 721, 728.)”). 

27. On October 25, 2019, Judge Wohlfeil held a hearing on the MNT.  The MNT 
hearing transcript reflects that Judge Wohlfeil incorrectly believed that the Illegality 
Issues had not previously been raised prior to the MNT and Weinstein’s opposition 
argument that Cotton therefore had waived the defense of illegality.  Exhibit No. 9 (MNT 
hearing transcript) at 3:1-7 (“THE COURT: […] Counsel, shouldn’t this have been raised 
at some earlier point in time?”).  

28. At the hearing, specially appearing counsel for Cotton raised State and City 
statutes and regulations arguing Geraci could not own a cannabis CUP and doubly so 
pursuant to the Berry Application because of the Berry Fraud.  (Exhibit No. 9 (MNT 
hearing transcript) at 3:13-21. 

29. The minute order denying the MNT does not provide Judge Wohlfeil’s 
reasoning, simply stating the MNT is denied. Exhibit No. 10 (minute order). 

 THE APPLICATION AND ORDER 
30. According to the state and federal websites with their respective biographies, 

Judge Wohlfeil and Judge Bashant both served on the San Diego Superior Court for 
approximately seven years before Judge Bashant was elevated to the federal court. 

A. The Application 
31. On April 3, 2020, Flores filed the underlying suit, including Judge Wohlfeil 

as a defendant, and the Application.  Petitioners underlying suit includes a cause of action 
pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1986 for “NEGLECT TO PREVENT A WRONGFUL ACT.” 

32. In their Application, Petitioners were seeking, inter alia, (i) a TRO enjoining 
Magagna from selling/transferring the cannabis CUP pending a hearing on a preliminary 
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injunction; (ii) an order compelling Nguyen to appear at the preliminary injunction 
hearing to testify regarding her failure to provide Young’s promised testimony; and (iii) 
an order compelling Young to appear at the hearing regarding her failure to provide her 
promised testimony. 

33. In support of the Application, Flores provided a supporting declaration that 
includes the following declarations: 

(i) On June 30, 2019, the day before Cotton I trial started, Young called 
[Joe] Hurtado while I was present. Hurtado put the call on 
speakerphone and I informed Young that Jacob was trying to serve her 
with a subpoena to testify at Cotton I as her testimony was crucial to 
his case and that he never received the statement she promised to 
provide. 
 

(ii) Young stated that she had moved out of the City, could not be served 
and did not “want anything to do with Cotton or the litigation.” I 
informed Young that her absconding was not going to end the case 
because regardless of the outcome of Cotton I, I would be filing my 
own lawsuit against the defendants named herein once I had finished 
conducting my due diligence and investigations. It was at that point that 
Young stated, inter alia, that my family and I should be fearful because 
Austin and Magagna were “dangerous.” 
 

(iii) [On a phone call with Young,] Young broke down and began to explain 
that she had done nothing illegal and that it was her attorney Natalie 
Nguyen who told her not to provide her testimony and ignore the 
subpoena; that she was referred to Nguyen by attorney Matt Shapiro; 
and that Shapiro paid almost all of her fees due to Nguyen for her legal 
services. 

 
(iv) The owner of the [business operating a tire ship located at 6230 Federal 

Blvd, San Diego, CA 92114] would not provide me his name but did 
confirm that he was being “evicted.”  He requested he not be involved 
in any litigation.  

 
(v) I declare under penalty of perjury according to the laws of the State of 

California that the foregoing is true and correct, and that this declaration 
was executed on April 3, 2020 at San Diego, California. 
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(Flores v. Austin, 3:20-cv-0656-BAS-DEB, Dock. No. 2 (TRO), Attachment 8 (Flores 
Decl.) at, respectively, ¶¶ 24, 25, 28, 31, and 42).) 

34. In support of the Application, Petitioners also sought a Request for Judicial 
Notice of a declaration by Hurtado in Cotton I which authenticated the text messages 
between Hurtado and Young.  In the text messages, Young confirms the Bartell Statement 
and the attempted bribe/threats by Magagna. (Id., Dock. No. 3 (RJN), No. 19 (Hurtado 
Decl.); the Hurtado Decl. is attached hereto as Exhibit 11). 

B. The Order 
35. On April 20, 2020, Judge Bashant issued the Order.  The total effect of the 

Order is to make Petitioners’ case appear to be frivolous and counsel for Petitioners, 
Flores, to be professionally incompetent. (Exhibit No. 12.) 

36. Specifically, the Order states that: (i) the Complaint filed by Petitioners is 
“confusing”; (ii) that Petitioners filed suit alleging a cause of action for “neglect to 
perform wrongful act”; (iii) that Young is a “defendant”; (iv) that Petitioners reasoning 
for seeking Young’s testimony is “unclear”; and (v) that Flores failed to comply with 
FRCP 65(b) by not certifying in an “affidavit” the facts for why a TRO should issue 
without notice. (Id.) 

37. The Order accuses Petitioners of making material factual statements that 
Petitioners did not make, is contradicted by the facts actually alleged and provided, and 
is legally contradicted insofar as a declaration is the equivalent of an affidavit if, as here, 
it meets the requirements of 28 U.S.C. § 1746.  

38. As a result of Judge Bashant’s Order, Jane Doe’s estate withdrew their 
consent for Flores to proceed with her representation in the underlying action. (Flores 
Decl. ¶ 9.) 

39. Jane was not married and is survived by her 87-year old mother and her two-
year old son. (Flores Decl. ¶ 10.) 

40. Jane’s mother, as the representative of Jane’s estate, withdrew its consent 
because she believes that Judge Bashant is motivated to cover-up Judge Wohlfeil’s bias 
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and Flores is not professionally competent to expose Geraci if he must also expose the 
judiciaries as biased/incompetent.  Throughout Cotton I Geraci’s attorneys assassinated 
the character and integrity of Cotton, Cotton’s attorneys, and supporters.  Jane’s mother 
does not want Jane’s reputation to be maligned and she believes the Order reflects that 
Judge Bashant’s priority is preventing the exposure of Judge Wohlfeil as a biased/corrupt 
judge. (Flores Decl. ¶ 11.) 

ARGUMENT 

 APPLICABLE LAW 

A. The Bauman Factors 
In considering whether to grant a writ of mandamus, the Court is guided by the five 

factors identified in Bauman v. U.S. Dist. Ct., 557 F.2d 650 (9th Cir. 1977): 
(1) whether the petitioner has no other means, such as a direct appeal, to obtain the 

desired relief; 
(2) whether the petitioner will be damaged or prejudiced in any way not correctable 

on appeal; 
(3) whether the district court's order is clearly erroneous as a matter of law; 
(4) whether the district court's order is an oft repeated error or manifests a persistent 

disregard of the federal rules; and 
(5) whether the district court's order raises new and important problems or issues 

of first impression. 
Perry v. Schwarzenegger, 591 F.3d 1147, 1156 (9th Cir. 2010) (citing Bauman, 557 F.2d 
at 654–55).   

Not every factor need be present at once, and it is a rare case where all factors point 
in one direction or where every guideline is both relevant and applicable. Hernandez v. 
Tanninen, 604 F3d 1095, 1099 (9th Cir. 2010).  As set forth below, Petitioners meet the 
first three of the five Bauman factors. 
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B. Material State and City Laws and Regulations5 

 General City CUP Application Requirements   
Since August 1993, SDMC § 11.0401 has prohibited the furnishing of false or 

incomplete information in any application for any type of permit or CUP from the City. 
(See SDMC § 11.0401(b) (“No person willfully shall make a false statement or fail to 
report any material fact in any application for City license, permit, certificate, 
employment or other City action under the provisions of the [SDMC].”).)   

SDMC § 11.0402 provides that “[w]henever in [the SDMC] any act or omission is 
made unlawful, it shall include causing, permitting, aiding or abetting such act or 
omission.” 

SDMC § 121.0302(a) proves that: “It is unlawful for any person to maintain or use 
any premises in violation of any of the provisions of the Land Development Code, without 
a required permit, contrary to permit conditions, or without a required variance.” 

The Land Development Code consists of Chapters 11 through 14 of the SDMC 
(encompassing §§ 111.0101-1412.0113). (SDMC § 111.0101(a).) 

The City’s General Application for CUP applications requires - and cites SDMC § 
112.0102 - that an applicant certify they are the owner, an agent of the owner, or a person 
having a legal right to the property on which the CUP application is filed on. 

SDMC § 121.0311 states as follows: “Violations of the Land Development Code 
shall be treated as strict liability offenses regardless of intent.” (Emphasis added.) 

 Cannabis CUP Application Requirements6 

 
5 For simplicity, Petitioners do not set forth all the numerous State and City laws and 
regulations that are violated by the Berry Application and the Berry Fraud. 
6 The Berry Application was originally a medical cannabis CUP application that was 
converted to a for-profit cannabis retail CUP application during the course of Cotton I.  
Throughout the Course of Cotton I, various cannabis laws and regulations at the State and 
City level were applicable to medical and non-medical applications that changed over 
time.  For simplicity, Petitioners focus on the primary State statute that applied when the 
Cotton I judgement was issued, BPC § 26057. 
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SDMC § 42.1502 defines a “cannabis outlet” (i.e., a dispensary) as a “retail 
establishment operating with a Conditional Use Permit in accordance with… retailer 
licensing requirements contained in the California Business and Professions Code 
[(“BPC”)] sections governing cannabis and medical cannabis.” (Emphasis in original.) 

BPC § 26057 (Denial of Application) provides as follows: 
 

(a) The licensing authority shall deny an application if… the applicant… 
do[es] not qualify for licensure under this division. 
 

(b) The licensing authority may deny the application for licensure or renewal 
of a state license if any of the following conditions apply. 

 
(1) Failure or inability to comply with the provisions of this division, any 
rule or regulation adopted pursuant to this division… 
 
(3) Failure to provide information required by the licensing authority. 
…. 
(7) The applicant, or any of its officers, directors, or owners, has been 
sanctioned by a licensing authority or a city, county, or city and county for 
unauthorized commercial cannabis activities… in the three years 
immediately preceding the date the application is filed with the licensing 
authority. 
 

BPC § 26057(a),(b)(1)(3)(7) (emphasis added). 

 THE COTTON I JUDGMENT ENFORCES AN ILLEGAL CONTRACT 
“Whether a contract is illegal . . . is a question of law to be determined from the 

circumstances of each particular case.” Kashani v. Tsann Kuen China Enterprise Co., 118 
Cal.App.4th 531, 540 (Cal. Ct. App. 2004) (citation and quotation omitted).  A contract is 
unlawful and unenforceable if it is contrary to, in pertinent part, (1) an express provision 
of law; or (2) the policy of express law. Cal. Civ. Code §1667(1)-(2).  For purposes of 
illegality, the “law” includes statutes, local ordinances, and administrative regulations 
issued pursuant to same.  Kashani, 118 Cal.App.4th at 542.  A contract made for the 
purpose of furthering any matter prohibited by law, or to aid or assist any party in the 
violation of the law, is void.  Homami v. Iranzadi (1989) 211 Cal.App.3d 1104, 1109 
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(voiding a contract entered into for the purpose of avoiding state and federal income tax 
regulations). 

The test for illegality is “whether the plaintiff requires the aid of the illegal 
transaction to establish his case.  If the plaintiff cannot open his case without showing 
that he has broken the law, the court will not assist him, whatever his claim in justice may 
be upon the defendant.” Id. at 1109. 

A. The Sanctions Issue 
Geraci was sanctioned on June 17, 2015 in the CCSquared Judgment for 

“maintaining” an illegal dispensary at the Geraci Property.  At trial in Cotton I, Geraci 
lied and said he has never operated a dispensary. Even assuming his judicial admissions 
in the Stipulated Judgment did not directly contradict his testimony, as a co-owner of JL 
he is still liable.  “[A]s the owner of the [Geraci Property] where an illegal marijuana 
facility was operating, [Geraci is] strictly liable for the offense, regardless of his 
knowledge, intent, or active participation in the operation. [Citations.]” City of San Diego 
v. Medrano, D071111, at *7 (Cal. Ct. App. Aug. 2, 2017) (unpublished); see People v. 
Superior Court of L.A. Cnty., 234 Cal.App.4th 1360, 1385 (Cal. Ct. App. 2015) 
(“[Party’s] claim that he lacked knowledge that there was a marijuana facility on his 
property lacks merit as violation of [the Los Angeles Municipal Code] section 
12.21A.1(a) is a strict liability offense.”).  

Pursuant to BPC § 26057(a),(b)(7), applicable to all cannabis CUP applications 
with the City (see SDMC § 42.1502), Geraci was barred from owning a cannabis CUP 
until June 18, 2018. 

The Berry Application was submitted on October 31, 2016.  Therefore, setting 
aside other arguments, because the November Document’s object is Geraci’s ownership 
of a cannabis CUP, which is illegal, it is void and unenforceable. Consul Ltd. v. Solide 
Enterprises, Inc., 802 F.2d 1143, 1148 (9th Cir. 1986) (“A contract to perform acts barred 
by California's licensing statutes is illegal, void and unenforceable.”). 

B. The Berry Fraud 
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Geraci applied for a cannabis CUP at the Property via the Berry Application and 
the Berry Fraud.  Berry’s failure to disclose Geraci in the Berry Application:  

(i) violates the plain and clear requirement set forth in the Ownership Disclosure 
Form requiring a list of all parties with an interest in the CUP or the Property (required 
pursuant to SDMC § 112.0102 as cited to in the Ownership Disclosure Form);  

(ii) violates SDMC § 11.0401 (prohibiting willful false statements in CUP 
applications);  

(iii) makes Berry and Geraci jointly liable pursuant to SDMC § 11.0402 (joint 
liability for aiding & abetting) for which there can be no excuse as the violations are 
treated as strict liability offenses regardless of intent pursuant to SDMC § 121.0311; and 

(iv) violates BPC § 26057(b)(3) (“The applicant has failed to provide information 
required by the licensing authority.”).  See Cal. Code Regs. tit. 16 § 5003(b)(1) (defining 
“Owner” for purposes of cannabis applications as, inter alia, a “person with an aggregate 
ownership interest of 20 percent or more in the person applying for a license or a 
licensee”). 

In Homami, the court declined to enforce an oral contract that provided that a buyer 
of real property would pay interest secretly to the seller in order to allow the seller to 
avoid declaring interest income and thus to evade required taxes.  Homami at 1104.  In 
reaching its decision, the court identified a “group of cases… involv[ing] plaintiffs who 
have attempted to circumvent federal law. Generally, these cases arise where nonveterans 
seek to obtain government benefits and entitlements available to veterans only, either by 
setting up a strawman veteran or otherwise by falsifying documents.” Homami at 1110. 

Here, similarly, Geraci used his secretary Berry as a strawman, or rather a 
strawwoman, to unlawfully acquire a cannabis CUP that he could not own in his own 
name. And he did so via a fraudulent application that violated clearly applicable State and 
City laws and regulations requiring the disclosure of Geraci. 

Therefore, even setting aside the Sanctions Issue, the Cotton I judgment is void 
because Geraci cannot own a cannabis permit via the Berry Application because of the 
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Berry Fraud. “To permit a recovery here on any theory would permit [Geraci] to benefit 
from his willful and deliberate flouting of [the] law[s] designed to promote the general 
public welfare.” Id. at 1110 (quoting May, supra, at 712). 

 THE BAUMAN FACTORS APPLIED 

A. Petitioners have no other means to obtain the necessary relief. 
 “The first Bauman factor highlights the need for mandamus to be used only when 

no other realistic alternative is (or was) available to a petitioner.” Cole v. U.S. Dist. Court 
For Dist. of Idaho, 366 F.3d 813, 817 (9th Cir. 2004).  Judge Bashant’s denial of the 
Application is not an appealable order and, realistically, any type of reconsideration by 
Judge Bashant can reasonably and lawfully be considered futile.  In Exxon, the United 
States Supreme Court said: 

 
We agree that “the Due Process Clause entitles a person to an impartial and 
disinterested tribunal,” Marshall v. Jerrico, Inc., 446 U.S. 238, 242, 100 S.Ct. 
1610, 1613, 64 L.Ed.2d 182 (1980), and that “[a] fair trial in a fair tribunal is 
a basic requirement of due process.” In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 136, 75 
S.Ct. 623, 625, 99 L.Ed. 942 (1955). Moreover, like the more stringent federal 
judges’ disqualification statute, 28 U.S.C. § 455, the Constitution is 
concerned not only with actual bias but also with “the appearance of 
justice.” Id. 

Exxon Corp. v. Heinze, 32 F.3d 1399, 1403 (9th Cir. 1994) (emphasis added). 
A reasonable third-party could view the fact that Judge Bashant and Judge Wohlfeil 

worked together for approximately seven years in the San Diego Superior Court, coupled 
with the facts set forth below, to conclude Judge Bashant is biased because: 

First, Petitioners did not file a cause of action for “neglect to perform wrongful 
act.”  Petitioners filed a cause of action pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1986 as set forth in the 
cover page of the Complaint for “NEGLECT TO PREVENT A WRONGFUL ACT.” 

Second, Judge Bashant refers to Young as a “defendant,” Young is a “witness” who 
was threatened from providing her testimony in Cotton I.  The Complaint and the 
Application describe in great detail the evolution of how Young came to be a literal 
“smoking gun” witness that was unlawfully threatened by Magagna and coerced by 
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Nguyen.  Neither Petitioners nor any of Flores’ attorney peers can begin to imagine a 
scenario in which a reasonable person, not even accounting for a judge with twenty years 
of experience being on the bench, could reach the conclusion that Young was anything 
other than a scared witness if they actually read the Complaint and the Application.   

Third, the Order denies the Application because Petitioners’ allegations are not 
specific facts made in an “affidavit.”  

Factually, as quoted directly above, the Flores declaration directly describes 
Young’s statements and the actions taken against her.  Flores provided, via the Request 
for Judicial Notice of Hurtado’s declaration, the text messages between Hurtado and 
Young that reflect that Young is scared for her physical safety because, inter alia, Shapiro 
and Magagna know where she lives. Exhibit 11 at pg. 14 (“They know where I live!”).  
Furthermore, the Flores’ declaration provided attorney Nguyen’s emails and described 
how the owner of a business, at the real property at which the cannabis CUP was issued 
to Magagna, was in the process of being evicted.  In sum, there is no factual basis for 
Judge Bashant’s finding that Petitioners did not provide a factual basis for the relief 
requested due to history of violence and unlawful coercion against Young. See Reno Air 
Racing Ass'n., Inc. v. McCord, 452 F.3d 1126, 1131 (9th Cir. 2006) (“There are a very 
narrow band of cases in which ex parte orders are proper because notice to the defendant 
would render fruitless the further prosecution of the action.’ [Citation.]”).  

Legally, 28 U.S.C. § 1746 provides that an unsworn declaration is the legal 
equivalent of an affidavit so long as the declaration meets the requirements of 28 U.S.C. 
§ 1746.  See Elliott v. QF Circa 37, LLC, No. 16-cv-0288-BAS-AGS, at *11 (S.D. Cal. 
June 12, 2018) (Judge Bashant: “Section 1746 requires that an unsworn declaration 
executed within the United States include language that ‘I declare (or certify, verify, or 
state) under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct,’ as well as the date 
on which the declaration was executed.”).  The Flores declaration meets the statutory 
requirements. Thus, it was legal error for Judge Bashant to deny the Application on the 
grounds that Flores provided a declaration and not an affidavit. 
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Fourth, Judge Bashant’s opinion that the Complaint is “confusing” and the 
reasoning in the Application is “unclear” cannot be reasonably be addressed as they are 
premised on the false factual premises that, inter alia, Petitioners filed suit against 
defendants for not committing a crime and that Young is a “defendant.” 

In sum, Judge Bashant’s Order is based on alleged factual allegations not actually 
made by Petitioners, factually contradicted by the actual facts declared and evidence 
provided, and legally unsupported. 

B. Petitioners will be irreparably damaged and prejudiced in a manner 
not correctable on appeal.  

In regard to Magagna, Petitioners will be irreparably damaged if the cannabis CUP 
is transferred to a third-party bona fide purchaser.  The Property with and without the 
cannabis CUP are two fundamentally different pieces of real property - the loss of the 
cannabis CUP at the Property is irreparable.  Park Vill. Aprt. v. Mortimer Howard Trust, 
636 F.3d 1150, 1159 (9th Cir. 2011) (“It is well-established that the loss of an interest in 
real property constitutes an irreparable injury.”). 

In regard to Young, Petitioners will be irreparably damaged if Young is prevented 
from testifying or committing perjury. Ty Inc. v. Softbelly's, Inc., 517 F.3d 494, 498 (7th 
Cir. 2008) (“Trying improperly to influence a witness is fraud on the court and on the 
opposing party [and] routinely invoked in cases in which a judgment is sought to be set 
aside under Fed.R.Civ.P. 60(b)(3)…”).   Young’s testimony, if found by a jury to be true, 
proves that Magagna’s acquisition of the cannabis CUP is not the unimpeded hand of the 
market, but rather Geraci and his attorneys’ plan to mitigate their damages in anticipation 
of Cotton I being exposed as a sham. 

C. Judge Bashant’s Order is clearly erroneous as a matter of law. 
“[T]he third factor—clear error—is a necessary prerequisite for the writ to issue. 

The clear error standard requires… a firm conviction that the district court misinterpreted 
the law or committed a clear abuse of discretion.” In re Perez, 749 F.3d 849, 855 (9th 
Cir. 2014) (internal citations and quotations omitted; emphasis added). 
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As discussed above, it was clear error for Judge Bashant to find that Petitioners did 
not meet the requirements of FRCP 65(b). 

However, assuming Petitioners are incorrect, Judge Bashant still had an 
independent duty sua sponte to address the issue of illegality. California Pacific Bank, 
supra, at 223.  Judge Bashant did not have the discretion to ignore the evidence and 
arguments of illegality, a question of law, and her failure to do so is an abuse of discretion.  

In Nyhus, the Court of Appeals said: 
 
[Defendant] did not itself formally advance a claim of illegality of the deferral 
agreement as a defense to the action. The issue of illegality was posed, not by 
[defendant] in either its answer or its motion for summary judgment, but by 
the court, sua sponte, during the hearing on the motion. [Plaintiff] registers a 
complaint on that score, but we think the court acted commendably in doing 
so. Invalidity of a contract offensive to public policy cannot be waived by the 
parties; it is a barrier which the court itself [is] bound to raise in the interests 
of the due administration of justice. 

Nyhus v. Travel Management Corporation, 466 F.2d 440, 447 (D.C. Cir. 1972) (citations 
and quotations omitted; emphasis added).  

The Cotton I judgment and the Order ratify the Illegality Issues and the acts of 
violence and unlawful coercion that make up the Obstruction of Justice Issue.  Danebo 
Lumber Co. v. Koutsky-Brennan-Vana Co., 182 F.2d 489, 495 (9th Cir. 1950) (“To deny 
a remedy to reclaim [property procured through an illegal contract] is to give effect to the 
illegal contract.”). 

The Ninth Circuit has held that it is “well settled that a judgment is void if the court 
that considered it… acted in a manner inconsistent with due process of law.” Watts v. 
Pinckney, 752 F.2d 406, 409 (9th Cir. 1985) (quotations and citations omitted).  Judge 
Wohlfeil was presented with undisputed facts and controlling law that proved the defense 
of illegality factually had not and legally could not be waived. For purposes of this 
petition, it does not matter what Judge Wohlfeil’s motivation was, he got it egregiously 
wrong and made the judiciary the instrument pursuant to which a criminal conspiracy was 
successfully effectuated. Cf. Epic Sys. Corp. v. Lewis, 138 S. Ct. 1612, 1645 (2018) 
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(quoting Kaiser Steel Corp. v. Mullins, 455 1U.S. 72, 77 (1982)) (“[A]uthorities from the 
earliest time to the present unanimously hold that no court will lend its assistance in any 
way towards carrying out the terms of an illegal contract.”).   

“A void judgment is a legal nullity and a court considering a motion to vacate has 
no discretion in determining whether it should be set aside.” Watts, 752 F.2d at 410 
(emphasis added).   

Petitioners filed the Complaint and the Application seeking to have the Cotton I 
judgment vacated for being void for enforcing an illegal contract because of the Illegality 
Issues and the Obstruction of Justice Issue.  Judge Bashant had “no discretion” to fail to 
address the Illegality Issues/Obstruction of Justice Issue in the Application and her Order 
is the product of clear error.  Watts at 410. 

 PETITIONER-ATTORNEY FLORES 

A. Laches and Service of the Petition 
The doctrine of laches may bar mandamus review “if the petitioner slept upon his 

rights … and especially if the delay has been prejudicial to the other party, or to the rights 
of other persons.” Cheney v. United States Dist. Ct. for Dist. of Columbia, 542 US 367, 
379 (2004) (internal quotes and brackets omitted). 

Flores did not want to file this petition. As described in the underlying Complaint, 
he did not want to even file the Complaint.  Flores is a solo practitioner with no support 
staff.  His practice is primarily criminal defense.  Flores has never filed a federal 
complaint or a petition/appeal in either the State or Federal courts. 

Flores attempted to engage counsel specialized in RICO, white collar, civil 
conspiracy, and/or antitrust issues to represent Petitioners.  Petitioners faced two 
obstacles: lack of capital and, given the simplicity of the Illegality Issues, the perception 
that Judge Wohlfeil pretends to be confused by the Sanctions Issue and de facto allowed 
a jury to determine whether the November Document is an illegal contract. See People v. 
Walker, 32 Cal. App. 3d 897, 902 (1973) (“It is error to submit to a jury as a question of 
fact an issue that on the record was one of law. [Citations.]  ‘All questions of law . . . are 
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to be decided by the court.’[Citation.]”). And that Judge Bashant similarly refused to 
address the Illegality Issues / Obstruction of Justice Issue based on purported facts not 
alleged and law she knows does not apply. 

No established, reputable firm wanted to make allegations of judicial bias and 
corruption. Flores did not “sleep” on Petitioners’ rights and there can be no prejudice to 
individuals who have acquired a judgment and property in violation of the law through 
fraud and violence. 

B. White Privilege / Systemic Judicial Bias 
Plain statement by Petitioners’ counsel: I am a U.S. born citizen of Mexican 

heritage, appearance and obvious surname. Cotton I can be simplistically, but accurately 
summarized as follows: Geraci is a white drug dealer that had his four white attorneys 
convince Judge Wohlfeil that it is not illegal for Geraci to own a cannabis CUP, despite 
the fact he had been sanctioned for operating illegal marijuana dispensaries, which he 
sought to acquire through a fraudulent application in the name of his white receptionist. 

Nothing any future ruling, decision or judgment that can be issued in this or any 
related case will change what I know to be true: if I had ever argued that a black client of 
mine, who had been sanctioned for engaging in illegal cannabis sales, could get a 
regulated cannabis license via a fraudulent application submitted in the name of his 
secretary, the judge would check the law and I would be sanctioned and potentially lose 
my license to practice law. 

It is White Privilege that allows Geraci’s attorneys, and Geraci’s attorneys’ 
attorneys, to continue even now to argue that it is lawful for Geraci to own a cannabis 
CUP via the Berry Application without fear of serious judicial or legal consequence.  And 
it is systemic judicial bias that allows Judge Wohlfeil (who is white) to take Geraci’s 
attorneys at their word, but not even bother checking the clear applicable law when I 
argued that Geraci’s attorneys were lying to him.   

And it is the same judicial bias and privilege that allows Judge Bashant to so 
nonchalantly destroy my professional reputation by deriding my work product as 

Case: 20-71813, 06/25/2020, ID: 11733706, DktEntry: 1-3, Page 29 of 34
(32 of 184)



 
 

24 
 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 

 

“confusing” and “unclear” based on statements she accuses me of making that I did not 
make and law she knows does not apply. I must continue to practice in this small legal 
community to provide for my family so I must endure the widespread indignity that Judge 
Bashant has subjected me to, but my decision to not take any further action does not mean 
her actions are lawful or ethical. 

I am under no illusions as to myself or how I will be perceived by this Court, but I 
have read, believe in and respect the U.S. Constitution – it is offensive to me that Judge 
Wohlfeil and Judge Bashant stand in judgment before minority litigants and attorneys 
given their indisputable actions in this case. 

The Order has paradigmatically changed the way I, and my attorney peers, view 
the integrity of judges and the fallibility of the judiciaries.  It is sincerely appalling to 
think about how many other litigants have been deprived of their life, liberty or property 
because of the trust that judges place on personal relationships or what appears to be 
predetermined credibility determinations that they elevate above the objective application 
of law to facts.  

I make this argument here as a public policy argument, knowing it is probable it 
will be disregarded and for which I will be further derided, but in the hopes that it may be 
heeded or at the very least one day provide evidentiary support for other victims of 
Geraci’s unethical attorneys/conspirators and Judge Wohlfeil and Judge Bashant’s bias.  

CONCLUSION 
It is impossible to understate the simplicity of this criminal conspiracy that was 

successfully effectuated via the state judiciary: Geraci hired Austin, Bartell and 
Schweitzer to submit the Berry Application with the Berry Fraud because of the Sanctions 
Issue.  When the Berry Fraud was discovered by Cotton, Geraci had F&B file Cotton I as 
a sham and to record the F&B Lis Pendens to prevent the sale to Martin. 

However, Cotton is a relentless and indomitable individual that never succumbed 
to illegal litigation tactics in and out of the courtroom. Thus, Geraci and his conspirators, 
had the cannabis CUP issued to Magagna, which, in turn, made it impossible for a 
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cannabis CUP to ever be issued at the Property. Thereby permanently mitigating their 
consequential damages.  Perversely and fortuitously for Petitioners, but-for Magagna’s 
threating of Young, and attorney Nguyen’s unjustifiable failure as an officer of the court 
to provide Young’s testimony, they probably would have gotten away with it. 

Petitioners refuse to believe that justice will allow this Court to ratify Judge 
Wohlfeil and Judge Bashant’s actions.  Flores rushed to file a pro se like 173-page 
complaint that was a summary of his notes to prevent individuals from taking acts of 
violence against Geraci’s attorneys.  The filing of the Complaint accomplished that goal. 
The Order make such acts possible again.  

If this Court fails to at least articulate why Geraci can lawfully own a cannabis CUP 
via the Berry Application, something Flores cannot do no matter how he convolutes the 
facts and law, it will be taken as a message from those without a legal background 
that the justice system has failed them and that justice, if it is to be achieved, must be 
taken at their own hands. Flores has met his ethical obligations by the filing of the 
Complaint and this petition. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
Based on the foregoing, Petitioners respectfully request that this Court issue an 

order: 
1. Vacating the Cotton I judgment as void for enforcing an illegal contract;
2. Vacate Judge Bashant’s Order;
3. Direct the attendance of attorney Nguyen and Young at the hearing on this

Petition without notice to adverse parties;7

4. To remand this case to the district court to proceed with the action consistent
with the findings by this Court; and

5. Granting any other relief this Court may exercise in its discretion given the
extraordinary circumstances that have led to the instant situation in which a

7 Petitioners have not served adverse parties, except the trial court, with this petition 
because to do so is to the very relief grated to Petitioners and sought in the Application 
pursuant to FRCP 65(b).  However, Petitioners will do so if directed by this Court. 

Case: 20-71813, 06/25/2020, ID: 11733706, DktEntry: 1-3, Page 31 of 34
(34 of 184)



 
 

26 
 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 
20 
21 
22 
23 
24 
25 
26 
27 
28 

 

criminal conspiracy and great harm to innocents has been effectuated through 
the State and Federal judiciaries. 

 
Dated:   June 25, 2020    Law Offices of Andrew Flores  

 
By          /s/ Andrew Flores  

Plaintiff In Propria Persona, and 
Attorney for Plaintiffs AMY SHERLOCK 

and Minors T.S. and 
S.S. 
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CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH TYPE-VOLUME LIMITATION, 
TYPEFACE REQUIREMENTS AND TYPE STYLE REQUIREMENTS 
I, Andrew Flores, Petitioner and counsel for petitioner, Amy Sherlock and her 

minor children, hereby certify that.  

1. This brief complaint with the requirements of Fed. R. App. P. 21(d) and in all other 

respects complains with Fed. R. App. P. 32(c)(2), excluding the parts of the brief 

exempted by Fed. R. App. P. 23(a)(7)(B)(ii); and 

2. This brief complaint with the typeface requirements of Fed. R. App. P. 32(a)(1)-

(7) and the type style requirement of Fed. R. App. P. 32(a)(6) because it has been 

prepared in a proportionally spaced typeface using Microsoft Word in 14 point 

Times New Roman. 

 
 
Dated:   June 25, 2020    Law Offices of Andrew Flores  

 
By          /s/ Andrew Flores  

Plaintiff In Propria Persona, and 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 

AMY SHERLOCK and Minors T.S. and 
S.S. 
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STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES 
 

Pursuant to Ninth Circuit Rule 28-2.6, Petitioner notes there is not a related case 
pending before this Court however there is a related case pending before the United States 
District Court for the Southern District of California: Cotton v. Geraci et al, 3:18-cv-
00325-BAS-DEB. 

 
Dated:   June 25, 2020    Law Offices of Andrew Flores  

 
By          /s/ Andrew Flores  

Plaintiff In Propria Persona, and 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 

AMY SHERLOCK and Minors T.S. and 
S.S. 
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In the 
United States Court of Appeals 

For the 
Ninth Circuit 

IN RE ANDREW FLORES, an individual, AMY SHERLOCK, on her own behalf 
and on behalf of her minor children, T.S. and S.S., 

Petitioners, 
vs. 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, 

Respondent, 

GINA M. AUSTIN, an individual, AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP APC, a California 
Corporation; JOEL R. WOHLFEIL, an individual; LAWRENCE (AKA LARRY) 

GERACI, an individual; TAX & FINANCIAL CENTER, INC., a California 
Corporation; REBECCA BERRY, an individual;  JESSICA MCELFRESH, an 
individual; SALAM RAZUKI, an individual; NINUS MALAN, an individual;  
MICHAEL ROBERT WEINSTEIN, an individual; SCOTT TOOTHACRE, an 

individual; ELYSSA KULAS, an individual; RACHEL M. PRENDERGAST, an 
individual; FERRIS & BRITTON APC, a California Corporation;  DAVID 

DEMIAN, an individual, ADAM C. WITT, an individual, RISHI S. BHATT, an 
individual, FINCH, THORTON, and BAIRD, a Limited Liability Partnership; 

JAMES D. CROSBY, an individual; ABHAY SCHWEITZER, an individual and 
dba TECHNE; JAMES (AKA JIM) BARTELL, an individual; BARTELL & 

ASSOCIATES, a California Corporation; MATTHEW WILLIAM SHAPIRO, an 
individual;   MATTHEW W. SHAPIRO, APC, a California corporation; 

NATALIE TRANG-MY NGUYEN, an individual, AARON MAGAGNA, an 
individual; A-M INDUSTRIES, INC., a California Corporation; BRADFORD 

HARCOURT, an individual; ALAN CLAYBON, an individual; SHAWN 
MILLER, an individual; LOGAN STELLMACHER, an individual; 

EULENTHIAS DUANE ALEXANDER, an individual; BIANCA MARTINEZ; an 
individual; THE CITY OF SAN DIEGO, a municipality; 2018FMO, LLC, a 

California Limited Liability Company; FIROUZEH TIRANDAZI, an individual; 
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STEPHEN G. CLINE, an individual; JOHN DOE, an individual; JOHN EK, an 
individual; THE EK FAMILY TRUST, 1994 Trust; DARRYL COTTON, an 

individual 
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INTRODUCTION 

Mr. Cotton seeks a new trial on three grounds.  First, the alleged November 2, 2016 agreement 

is illegal and void because Larry Geraci’s (“Mr. Geraci”) failure to disclose his interest in both the 

Property1 and the Conditional Use Permit (“CUP”) violates local law and policies, as well as state law.  

More particularly, the San Diego Municipal Code (the “SDMC”) requires those disclosures to be made.  

Further, Mr. Geraci entered into two stipulated judgments with the City of San Diego (“City”) that 

mandated he complied with the City’s CUP requirements, which he purposefully failed to do in his 

performance of the alleged November 2, 2016 agreement.  For his claims against Mr. Cotton, Mr. Geraci 

asks this Court to assist him in violating the SDMC and the policy of AUMA, which the Court is 

prohibited from doing.  As a result, the jury’s finding that the alleged November 2, 2016 agreement is a 

valid contract is contrary to law. 

 Second, the jury applied an objective standard to Mr. Cotton’s conduct and a subjective standard 

to Mr. Geraci’s as it relates to the alleged November 2, 2016 agreement and subsequent 

acknowledgement e-mail.  The jury found the parties entered into a contract on November 2, 2016 and 

discounted the acknowledgement e-mail based upon Mr. Geraci’s testimony that he only replied to the 

first line of Mr. Cotton’s e-mail.  Mr. Geraci’s objective conduct demonstrates that either (i) he agreed 

to a 10% interest that he later refused existed, or (ii) there was an agreement to agree.  Had the jury 

applied an objective standard to the conduct of both parties, it would not – nor could it – have reached 

the verdict it did.  The judgment entered in accordance with the jury’s verdict is contrary to law.2 

 Third, Mr. Geraci used the attorney-client privilege as a shield during discovery and a sword at 

trial, which prohibited Mr. Cotton from receiving a fair and impartial trial.  During discovery, 

Mr. Cotton sought documents and communications by and between Mr. Geraci and Gina Austin 

(“Ms. Austin”) relating to the drafting of various agreements related to the purchase of the Property.  

Mr. Geraci objected to the request and never produced communications related to the same based upon 

attorney-client privilege.  At trial, however, Mr. Geraci waived the attorney-client privilege, for the first 

 
1   The term “Property” shall mean and refer to the real property located at 6176 Federal Boulevard, San Diego, California. 
2   The “agreement to agree” argument is a defense to the breach of contract claim made by Mr. Geraci.  The argument should 
not, and cannot, be considered a judicial admission to the separate issue of Mr. Cotton’s claim as to the oral joint venture 
agreement. 
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time, and both he and Ms. Austin testified as to their communications.  Mr. Cotton was unable to cross-

examine either witness with the relevant documents Mr. Geraci withheld during discovery on the ground 

of attorney-client privilege.  The requested communications went to one of the central issues of the case 

– whether the alleged November 2, 2016 agreement was an agreement, or an agreement to agree.  The 

use of the attorney-client privilege as a sword at trial was made even more improper given the content 

of the testimony by Mr. Geraci and Ms. Austin, both of whom accused Mr. Cotton of a crime – extortion.  

As a result, Mr. Cotton did not receive a fair and impartial trial. 

ARGUMENT 

A. STANDARD FOR MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL. 

A verdict may be vacated, in whole or in part, and a new trial granted on all or part of the issues, 

when either the verdict is contrary to the law, there is an error in law at the trial, there is insufficient 

evidence to support the verdict, or an irregularity in the proceedings.  Cal. Code Civ. Proc. § 657(6)-(7).  

A party may raise illegality of contract on a motion for new trial.  Lewis & Queen v. N.M. Ball Sons 

(1957) 48 Cal.2d 141, 148 (citing Pacific Wharf & Storage Co. v. Standard American Dredging Co. 

(1920) 184 Cal. 21, 23-24)); Gray v. Robinson (1939) 33 Cal.App.2d 177, 182 (irregularity in the 

proceedings); A&M Records, Inc. v. Heilman (1977) 75 Cal.App.3d 554, 566 (litigant cannot claim 

privilege during discovery, then testify at trial as to the same matter); see also Webber v. Webber (1948) 

33 Cal.2d 153, 164 (affidavit not required where motion for new trial “relies wholly upon facts appearing 

upon the face of the record”).  On a motion for new trial, the Court sits as the 13th juror and is “vested 

with the plenary power – and burdened with a correlative duty – to independently evaluate the evidence.”  

Ryan v. Crown Castle NG Networks Inc. (2016) 6 Cal.App.5th 775, 784. 

B. RELEVANT BACKGROUND. 

Mr. Geraci, an IRS Enrolled Agent, Has Two Judgments Prohibiting the Operation 

of a Marijuana Dispensary Unless He Complies With the SDMC 

Mr. Geraci has been an enrolled agent with the IRS (“Enrolled Agent”), which “means he has a 

federal license that allows him to represent clients before the IRS,” since 1999.  (Reporter’s Transcript 

of Trial (“RT”) July 3, 2019 at 14:22-16:24; 56:25-57:11, the relevant excerpts of which are attached 
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hereto as Exhibit A.3)  Prior to his involvement with the Property and during the time in which he was 

an Enrolled Agent, Mr. Geraci was involved in at least two illegal marijuana dispensaries (the “Illegal 

Marijuana Dispensaries”).  (See id. (Mr. Geraci testifying that he has been an enrolled agent since 1999); 

Stipulation for Entry of Final Judgment and Permanent Injunction; Judgment Thereon [CCP § 664.6] 

(the “Tree Club Judgment”) and Stipulation for Entry of Final Judgment and Permanent Injunction; 

Judgment Thereon [CCP § 664.6] (the “CCSquared Judgment”) (collectively referred to herein as 

“Geraci Judgments”) true and correct copies of which are attached hereto as Exhibits B and C, 

respectively, and incorporated herein by this reference.) 

Pursuant to the terms of the Geraci Judgments, Mr. Geraci could only operate or maintain a 

marijuana dispensary after providing written proof to the City that “any required permits or licenses to 

operate a marijuana dispensary, collective or cooperative have been obtained from the City of San Diego 

as required by the SDMC.”  (Exhibit B (Tree Club Judgment) at ¶¶ 10(b), 17 (emphasis added); Exhibit 

– (CCSquared Judgment) at¶ 9(b).)  Unlike paragraphs 9 through 14, paragraph 10(b) in the Tree Club 

Judgment is not limited to the “PROPERTY.”  (See id.)  Unlike paragraphs 8 and 10 in the CCSquared 

Judgment, paragraph 9 is not limited to the “PROPERTY.”  (Exhibit C (CCSquared Judgment).4)  

Additionally, Mr. Geraci was fined $25,000 in the Tree Club Judgment and $75,000 in the CCSquared 

Judgment.  (Exhibit B (Tree Club Judgment) at ¶ 17; Exhibit C (CCSquared Judgment) at ¶ 15.) 

State Marijuana Laws 

 In 2003, the State of California (the “State”) enacted the Medical Marijuana Program Act (the 

“MMPA”), which established certain requirements for Medical Marijuana Consumer Cooperatives 

(“MMCC”).  On October 9, 2015, the State passed the Medical Marijuana Public Safety and 

Environmental Protection Act, 2015 California Senate Bill No. 643, California 2015-2016 Regular 

Session (hereinafter cited to as “S.B. 643”).  Pursuant to S.B. 643, an application must be denied if the 

applicant does not qualify for licensure.  (S.B. 643 at § 10 (adding Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 19323(a), 

(b)(8).)  An applicant does not qualify if he has been sanctioned by a city for unauthorized commercial 

 
3  For the convenience of the Court and to avoid a multiplicity of exhibits, true and correct copies of all relevant excerpts of 
testimony at trial on July 3, 2019 cited herein are contained in Exhibit A.  Each excerpt of testimony is clearly identified by 
a slipsheet and bookmarked for this Court’s ease or reference and expedient access. 
4  The CCSquared Judgment was a global settlement of two separate civil actions. 
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marijuana activity.  (Id.)  Although Section 12, which added § 19324, provides that an applicant shall 

not be denied a state license if the denial is based upon certain conditions, neither of the two conditions 

specified applies to § 19323(b)(8).  (Id. at § 12.)  In the Geraci Judgments, the City sanctioned 

Mr. Geraci for unauthorized commercial marijuana activity.  (See Exhibits B and C.) 

 On November 8, 2016, the voters of California approved Proposition 64, the Control, Regulate, 

and Tax Adult Use of Marijuana Act (“AUMA”).  (Control, Regulate, and Tax Adult Use Of Marijuana 

Act, 2016 Cal. Legis. Serv. Prop. 64 (hereinafter cited as “Prop. 64”).)  The purpose and intent of 

AUMA was to:  (i) strictly control the cultivation and sale of marijuana “through a system of state 

licensing, regulation, and enforcement; (ii) allow local governments to enforce state laws and 

regulations; and (iii) bring marijuana into a regulated and legitimate market to create a transparent and 

accountable system.  (Prop. 64 at §§ 2, 3.)  In order to create more legitimacy and transparency, among 

other things, AUMA requires the disclosure of all persons who have an interest in the license.  (Id. at 

§ 6.1 (adding §§ 26001(a) (providing broad definition of applicant), 26055(a) (licensing authorities may 

issue state licenses only to qualified applicants), and 26057 (prohibiting certain applicants from 

obtaining a license).) 

Local Marijuana Laws 

 After the enactment of the MMPA, the City adopted Ordinance No. 20356 (“Ordinance 20356”).   

Pursuant to Ordinance 20356, a CUP is required to operate an MMCC.  (See id. at § 126.0303(a); 

§ 141.0614.)   In February 2017, the City adopted Ordinance No. 20793, which requires a conditional 

use permit for a marijuana outlet.  (Ordinance No. 20793) at p. 4 (§ 126.0303).)   The approval of a CUP 

is governed by Process Three, which requires approval by a hearing officer and allows the hearing 

officer’s decision to be appealed to the Planning Commission.  SDMC § 112.0501 (providing overview 

of Process Three). 

The City’s CUP requirements mandate the disclosure of anyone who holds an interest in the 

relevant property or a CUP.  (See TE 30 (Ownership Disclosure Statement), a true and correct copy of 

which is attached hereto as Exhibit D and incorporated herein by this reference.) SDMC § 112.0102(b) 

(application shall be made on forms provided by city manager and accompanied by all the information 

required by the same); SDMC § 112.0102(c) (information requested on forms updated “to comply with 
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revisions to local, state, or federal law, regulation, or policy.  As evidenced by the SDMC, there are at 

least two reasons for the information mandated by the application forms. 

The first reason for the disclosure requirements is conflict of interest laws.  (RT July 8, 2019 at 

33:10-34:1, the relevant excerpts of which are attached hereto as Exhibit E;5 see also SDMC § 27.3563 

(prohibiting conflicts of interest).)  The City’s ethics ordinances (collectively, the “Ethics Ordinances”) 

were adopted “to embrace clear and unequivocal standards of disclosure and transparency in government 

so as to avoid conflicts of interest.”  SDMC § 27.3501.  The Ethics Ordinances require, among others, 

that a City official disclose his or her economic interests.  Id. at § 27.3510.  The Ethics Ordinances make 

it unlawful for any city official to make a municipal decision in which he or she knows, or has reason to 

know, that they have a disqualifying financial interest.  Id. at § 27.3561; see also id. at §§ 27.3562-63.  

The Ethics Ordinance applies to hearing officers who make decisions on CUP applications.  SDMC 

§ 27.3503 (see definitions of “City Official” and “High Level Filer,” the latter includes, by cross-

reference to Govt. Code § 87200, hearing officers).   

The second reason relates to the requirements for obtaining a license for a Marijuana Outlet 

(“MO”), which requires the applicant/responsible persons to undergo background checks after the 

issuance of a CUP.  SDMC § 112.0102(c); id. at §§ 42.1502 (defining responsible persons), 42.1504 

(requiring a permit to operate a marijuana outlet), and 42.1507 (requiring background check); (see also 

RT July 9, 2019 at 113:18-114:3 (Ms. Tirandazi, a City employee, testifying that background checks 

are required after the CUP process) the relevant excerpts of which are attached hereto as Exhibit F. 6)   

Failure to Disclose Ownership Interest and Geraci Judgments 

Mr. Geraci identified the Property and began talking with Mr. Cotton because the Property “may 

qualify for a dispensary.”  (Exhibit A at 59:18-19.)  On October 31, 2016, Ms. Austin – a self-

proclaimed expert in cannabis licensing – e-mailed Abhay Schweitzer instructing him to keep 

Mr. Cotton’s name off the CUP application “unless necessary” because Mr. Cotton had “legal issues 

 
5  For the convenience of the Court and to avoid a multiplicity of exhibits, true and correct copies of all relevant excerpts of 
testimony at trial on July 8, 2019 cited herein are contained in Exhibit E.  Each excerpt of testimony is clearly identified by 
a slipsheet and bookmarked for this Court’s ease or reference and expedient access. 
6  For the convenience of the Court and to avoid a multiplicity of exhibits, true and correct copies of all relevant excerpts of 
testimony at trial on July 9, 2019 cited herein are contained in Exhibit F.  Each excerpt of testimony is clearly identified by 
a slipsheet and bookmarked for this Court’s ease or reference and expedient access. 
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with the City.”  (Trial Exhibit (“TE”) 36, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit G 

and incorporated herein by this reference; Exhibit E at 11:28-13:23) (Ms. Austin characterizing herself 

as a marijuana expert), Id. at 54:10-55:11.)  On the same date, Mr. Geraci caused a Form DS-3032 

General Application (the “CUP General Application”) to be filed with the City.  (See TE 34, a true and 

correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit H and incorporated herein by this reference, at 34-

001.)  Rebecca Berry (“Ms. Berry”) was identified as the “Lessee or Tenant” and the Permit Holder.  

(Id.)  Mr. Geraci is not identified anywhere in the CUP General Application.  (See id.)  Section 7 of the 

CUP General Application requires the disclosure of, among other things, the Geraci Judgments (id. at 

§ 7); however, they were not disclosed.  (See id.) 

On the same date, Ms. Berry executed and submitted the Ownership Disclosure Statement to the 

City.  (See Exhibit D).  As set forth in the Ownership Disclosure Statement, the list “must include the 

names and addresses of all persons who have an interest in the property, recorded or otherwise, and state 

the type of interest.”  (Id.)  The Ownership Disclosure Statement also required the disclosure of “Other 

Financially Interested Persons.”  (Id.)  The disclosure requirements are mandatory and do not include 

exceptions for Enrolled Agents.  (See id.)  Notwithstanding, Mr. Geraci is not identified in the 

Ownership Disclosure Statement.  (Id.) 

Both Mr. Geraci and Ms. Berry testified that the exclusion of Mr. Geraci was purposeful; he was 

not disclosed because he was as an Enrolled Agent.  (Exhibit A at 193:19-194:5.)  Mr. Geraci also 

claimed that the lack of disclosure was “for convenience of administration.”  (See Plaintiff/Cross-

Defendant Larry Geraci’s Answers to Special Interrogatories, Set Two, Propounded by 

Defendant/Cross-Complainant Darryl Cotton (hereinafter, the “Discovery Responses”), a true and 

correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit I and incorporated herein by this reference, at 12:8-

16.)  However, Ms. Austin instructed the consultants to leave Mr. Cotton’s name off the CUP 

application unless necessary because of Mr. Cotton’s “legal issues with the City.”  Mr. Geraci also had 

“legal issues with the City” and he was not disclosed.  (Exhibit E at 54:24-55:11.)   

Mr. Geraci’s Objective Manifestations 

On November 2, 2016, Messrs. Geraci and Cotton executed the alleged November 2, 2016 

agreement, which the jury determined constituted a contract.  (TE 38, a true and correct copy of which 
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is attached hereto as Exhibit J and incorporated herein by this reference.)  Shortly after receiving a copy 

of the alleged agreement, Mr. Cotton sent an e-mail stating the 10% equity position in the dispensary 

was not included in the document and requesting an acknowledgment that a provision regarding the 

same would be included in “any final agreement.”  (TE 42, a true and correct copy of which is attached 

hereto as Exhibit K and incorporated herein by this reference.)  Mr. Geraci responded, “no problem at 

all.”  (Id.)   

Mr. Geraci then caused certain draft agreements to be exchanged with Cotton.  (See TE 59 and 

62, true and correct copies of which are attached hereto as Exhibits L and M, respectively, and 

incorporated herein by this reference.)  The draft agreements did not state they were amending a prior 

agreement for the purchase of the property, did not reference a prior agreement, and the “Date of 

Agreement” was “[t]he latest date of execution of the Seller or the Buyer, as indicated on the signature 

page.”  (See e.g., Exhibit L at 059-003.)  The draft agreements included terms that were not included in 

the November 2, 2016 document, and provide no indication or reference to the alleged November 2, 

2016 agreement.  (See id.)  And none of the documents or communications produced by Mr. Geraci ever 

referenced extortion, which was never raised during the course of discovery. 

Mr. Geraci Used the Attorney-Client Privilege  as a Shield and a Sword 

Mr. Cotton propounded discovery seeking, among other things, documents and communications 

by and between Mr. Geraci and Ms. Austin.  (See Exhibit I (Discovery Responses) at 13:1-13, 14:8-

23.)  Mr. Geraci refused to produce any documents or communications based upon attorney-client 

privilege.  (See id.)  Mr. Geraci waived the attorney-client privilege for the first time and trial, and both 

he and Ms. Austin testified as to communications regarding the drafting of a purchase agreement and 

statements Mr. Geraci purportedly made that he was being extorted by Mr. Cotton.  (Exhibit E at 41:10-

26; see also Exhibit A at 129:22-28 (Mr. Geraci testifying as to the same statements).)7  The testimony 

of Mr. Geraci and Ms. Austin was not previously disclosed due to the attorney-client privilege, but and 

it effectively accused Mr. Cotton of a crime.  See Pen. Code, § 518 (defining extortion). 

 
7   “Extortion” is defined as the “…obtaining of property or other consideration from another, with his or her consent, or the 
obtaining of an official act of a public officer, induced by a wrongful use of force or fear, or under color of official right.” 
Cal. Pen. Code § 518.  None of the evidence suggests any “wrongful use of force or fear” by Mr. Cotton.  Multiple statements 
equating Mr. Cotton’s conduct to extortion were inflammatory and prejudicial. 
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C. THE ALLEGED NOVEMBER 2, 2016 AGREEMENT WAS ILLEGAL. 

The Court has a duty to, sua sponte, refuse to entertain an action that seeks to enforce an illegal 

contract.  May v. Herron, (1954) 127 Cal.App.2d 707, 710-12 (internal citations and quotations omitted) 

(voiding contract where plaintiff sought to recover balance due on contract, which recovery would have 

allowed plaintiff to “benefit from his willful and deliberate flouting of a law designed to promote the 

general public welfare”).  “Whether a contract is illegal … is a question of law to be determined from 

the circumstances of each particular case.”  Kashani v. Tsann Kuen China Enterprise Co. (2004) 118 

Cal. App. 4th 531, 540; Bovard v. American Horse Enterprises, Inc. (1988) 201 Cal.App.3d 832, 838.  

A contract is unlawful and unenforceable if it is contrary to, in pertinent part, (1) an express provision 

of law; or (2) the policy of express law.  Cal. Civ. Code § 1667(1)-(3); Kashani, supra, at 541 (contract 

must have a lawful object to be enforceable).  For purposes of illegality, the “law” includes statutes, 

local ordinances, and administrative regulations issues pursuant to the same.  Id. at 542.  “All contracts 

which have for their object, directly or indirectly, to exempt anyone from responsibility for his own … 

violation of law, whether willful or negligent, are against the policy of the law.”  Cal. Civ. Code § 1668 

(emphasis added).  A contract made for the purpose of furthering any matter prohibited by law, or to aid 

or assist any party in the violation of the law, is void.  Homami v. Iranzadi (1989) 211 Cal.App.3d 1104, 

1109 (voiding a contract entered into for the purpose of avoiding state and federal income tax 

regulations).  As summarized in Yoo v. Jho (2007) 147 Cal.App.4th 1249: 
 
No principle of law is better suited than that a party to an illegal contract 
cannot come into a court of law and ask to have his illegal objects to be 
carried out.  The courts generally will not enforce an illegal bargain or 
lend their assistance to a party who seeks compensation for an illegal act. 

 

Id. at 1255 (internal citations and quotations omitted); see also Kashani, supra, at 179; Cal. Civ. Code 

§§ 1550, 1608.  “The test as to whether a demand connected with an illegal transaction is capable of 

being enforced is whether the claimant requires the aid of an illegal transaction to establish his case.”  

Brenner v. Haley (1960) 185 Cal.App.2d 183, 287. 

May is instructive.  In May, the Newmans and May entered into a contract whereby May agreed 

to construct a home for the Newmans.  May, supra, at 708.  However, May could only perform under 

the contract by acquiring construction materials through the veteran’s priority status under Federal 

 
Writ of Mandamus 
Exhibit 5, 12 of 28

Case: 20-71813, 06/25/2020, ID: 11733706, DktEntry: 1-5, Page 40 of 132
(78 of 184)



 

12 
MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL 

Case No. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL 
 
 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 

Priorities Regulation No. 33, which gave preference to veterans in obtaining construction materials.  Id.  

The Newmans transferred title to their property to a veteran and May secured construction materials 

because of his veteran’s status.  Id. at 708-09.  The Court of Appeals held that the contract between May 

and the Newmans, while valid on its face, was illegal because May knew the house was not intended for 

occupancy by a veteran and May’s conduct in performing his obligations under the contract violated the 

federal regulation. 

Mr. Geraci, like May, violated local laws in pursuit of his performance under the alleged 

November 2, 2016 agreement.  On October 31, 2016, Mr. Geraci caused to be filed with the City a CUP 

application which failed to disclose his ownership interest in the Property, the CUP, or the Geraci 

Judgments, despite the City’s requirement that each of the foregoing be disclosed.  (See Exhibit H at 

034-001 (§ 7 requires disclosure of Geraci Judgments), id. at 034-004 (requires disclosure of all persons 

with an interest in the Property and CUP); SDMC § 112.0102(b) (application shall be made on forms 

provided by city manager and shall be accompanied by all the information required by the same); SDMC 

§ 112.0102(c) (information requested on forms updated “to comply with revisions to local, state, or 

federal law, regulation, or policy). 

The non-disclosure was purposeful.  (See Exhibit I – (Discovery Resp.) at 12:8-16.)  Indeed, 

efforts were undertaken to exclude any reference to Mr. Cotton in the CUP application because of his 

“legal issues” with the City.  There are no disclosure exceptions for Enrolled Agents, and neither the 

SDMC nor the Geraci Judgments allow Mr. Geraci to comply with some of the CUP requirements.  

Applying the test of illegal contracts, Mr. Geraci relied upon the General Application and Ownership 

Disclosure Statement to suggest that he complied with the terms of the alleged November 2, 2016 

agreement.  As a result, Mr. Geraci asks this Court to assist him in violating local laws, which the Court 

is prohibited from doing. 

The alleged November 2, 2016 agreement also violates the policy of express law in the form of 

the CUP requirements and AUMA.8  The policy of the SDMC is disclosure and transparency in 

 
8  Although AUMA was adopted days after the alleged November 2, 2016 agreement, pursuant to Ordinance No. O-20793, 
all MMCC applications in the City were replaced with the new retail sales category called an MO.  Thus, the CUP application 
submitted by Ms. Berry on behalf of Mr. Geraci is subject to AUMA.  Furthermore, the text of AUMA was circulated in July 
of 2016 so all of the requirements for potential successful applicants were already known to the public and attorneys 
specializing in cannabis laws and regulations prior to November 2, 2016. 
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government.  Similarly, the policy of AUMA is to bring marijuana into a regulated and legitimate market 

to create a transparent and accountable system.  Mr. Geraci’s efforts, which were undertaken both before 

and after November 2, 2016, violated both policies.  Neither of the policies provides any exceptions for 

Enrolled Agents, “convenience of administration,” or those persons with “legal issues” – all of which 

Mr. Geraci has used to justify his purposeful non-disclosure. 

D. THE JURY APPLIED AN OBJECTIVE STANDARD TO MR. COTTON, AND A 

SUBJECTIVE STANDARD TO MR. GERACI. 

Mutual assent is determined under an objective standard applied to the outward manifestations, 

the surrounding circumstances, the nature and subject matter of the contract, and subsequent conduct of 

the parties; assent is not determined by unexpressed intentions or understandings.  Alexander v. 

Codemasters Group Limited (2002) 104 Cal.App.4th 129, 141 (disapproved on other grounds in Reid v. 

Google, Inc. (2010) 50 Cal.4th 512, 524); People v. Shelton (2006) 37 Cal.4th 759, 767 (internal citations 

and quotations omitted).  Agreements to agree are unenforceable because there is no intent to be bound 

and the Court may not speculate upon what the parties will agree.  Bustamante v. Intuit, Inc. (2009) 141 

Cal.App.4th 199, 213-14 (internal citations and quotations omitted). 

There was no dispute relating to the parties’ objective manifestations.  Shortly after receiving a 

copy of the alleged November 2, 2016 agreement, Mr. Cotton sent an e-mail stating the 10% equity 

position in the dispensary was not included in the document and requested an acknowledgment that the 

same would be included in “any final agreement.”  (See Exhibit K.)  Mr. Geraci responded “no problem 

at all.”  (Id.)  Mr. Geraci then had draft final agreements prepared and circulated.  The draft agreements:  

(i) do not state they were amending a prior agreement; (ii) do not reference a prior agreement; (iii) state 

that the “Date of Agreement” was “[t]he latest date of execution of the Seller or the Buyer, as indicated 

on the signature page;” (iv) do not provide any indication that a prior agreement was reached between 

the parties; and (v) include terms not set forth in the alleged November 2, 2016 agreement.  None of the 

drafts were signed and none of the documents produced by Mr. Geraci ever referenced extortion. 

Only two conclusions could have been reached if the appropriate objective standard had been 

applied to both Mr. Cotton and Mr. Geraci.  The first possible conclusion is that the alleged November 2, 

2016 agreement included the 10% interest that Mr. Geraci subsequently refused to acknowledge.  The 
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second possible conclusion is that the e-mail exchange subsequent to the alleged November 2, 2016 

agreement demonstrated the parties agreed to agree.  And, therefore, the alleged November 2, 2016 

agreement was not enforceable. 

Instead, the jury reached the conclusion that the alleged November 2, 2016 agreement was a 

contract.  In order to do so, the jury must have applied Mr. Geraci’s subjective standard.  The jury must 

have believed Mr. Geraci’s unexpressed intentions or understandings (i.e., that he was only responding 

to the first line of Mr. Cotton’s e-mail and the statements to his counsel that he was being extorted).  

According to Mr. Geraci’s testimony, he called Cotton the following day to explain.  But if the hours 

that passed between the November 2, 2016 agreement and Mr. Cotton’s e-mail was too late for 

Mr. Cotton, the day that passed before Mr. Geraci’s call was also too late to explain his subjective intent 

as to his response.  Therefore, the jury’s conclusion that the alleged November 2, 2016 agreement is a 

contract stands in direct contrast to the objective standard applied to Mr. Cotton’s conduct.  The jury 

cannot apply objective standards to Mr. Cotton and subjective standards to Mr. Geraci. 

E. MR. GERACI USED THE ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE AS A SHIELD AND A 

SWORD, THEREBY VIOLATING MR. COTTON’S RIGHT TO A FAIR AND 

IMPARTIAL TRIAL. 

“[A]n overt act of the trial court … or adverse party, violative of the right to a fair and impartial 

trail, amounting to misconduct, may be regarded as an irregularity.”  Gray, supra, 33 Cal.App.2d at 182; 

see also Webber, supra, 33 Cal.2d at 164 (affidavit not required where motion for new trial “relies 

wholly upon facts appearing upon the face of the record”).  Litigation is not a game, and a litigant cannot 

claim privilege during discovery then testify at trial.  A&M Records, supra, 75 Cal.App.3d at 566.  As 

the A&M Court eloquently put it, “[a] litigant cannot be permitted to blow hot and cold in this manner.”  

Id.  At the February 8, 2019 hearing on Mr. Cotton’s Motion to Compel Further Responses to Discovery 

to which Mr. Geraci asserted Attorney-Client Privilege, the Court acknowledged as much when it stated:  

“[T]here is a price to be paid; [Mr. Geraci] can’t go back and reopen that area once [he has] narrowed 

the scope by asserting privilege.”  (See Exhibit J February 8, 2019 at 21:1-5.  The Court subsequently 

entered an order prohibiting testimony on matters that Plaintiff asserted attorney-client privilege.  

Minute Order dated Feb. 8, 2019 (ROA 455) at p. 3 (prohibiting testimony on matters that Plaintiff 
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asserted privilege in discovery).  Mr. Geraci has previously admitted that failure to disclose constitutes 

“substantial prejudice.”  Plaintiff Larry Geraci’s Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition 

to Defendant Darryl Cotton’s Motion to Expunge Lis Pendens dated April 10, 2018 (ROA 179) at 4:7-

8.  (Mr. Geraci claimed that Cotton’s “refusal to participate in discovery has substantially prejudiced 

Geraci and Berry in preparation of this case.”). 

 Mr. Cotton propounded discovery seeking, among other things, documents and communications 

by and between Mr. Geraci and Ms. Austin related to the purchase of the Property.  (See Exhibit I 

(Discovery Responses) at 13:1-13, 14:8-23.)  No documents or communications were produced in 

connection with the request based upon attorney-client privilege.  Then, at trial, Mr. Geraci waived 

privilege and he and Ms. Austin testified as to the very communications Mr. Cotton previously sought. 

Mr. Geraci’s use of the privilege as a shield and a sword violated Mr. Cotton’s right to a fair and 

impartial trial.  One of the central arguments Mr. Cotton presented was that the parties agreed to draft a 

final agreement.  While Mr. Geraci’s conduct was consistent with this argument, he and Ms. Austin 

testified at trial that Mr. Geraci’s request for draft agreements was purportedly the result of extortion.  

The failure to disclose those documents constitutes, as Mr. Geraci previously admitted, substantial 

prejudicial to Mr. Cotton because it prevented Mr. Cotton from cross-examining Mr. Geraci and 

Ms. Austin on their inflammatory and prejudicial extortion allegations, as well as proving that the 

alleged November 2, 2016 agreement was an agreement to agree.  Mr. Geraci cannot be permitted to 

“blow hot and cold.” 

CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons set forth herein, Mr. Cotton requests that the Court (i) find that the alleged 

November 2, 2016 agreement is illegal and void; or (ii) order a new trial and enable Mr. Cotton to 

conduct discovery related to the communications between Messrs. Geraci and Cotton.   
 
DATED this 13th day of September, 2019. 
 

              TIFFANY & BOSCO, P.A. 
 
 
      By       

EVAN P. SCHUBE 
Attorneys for Defendant/Cross-Complainant  
Darryl Cotton  
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DIRECT EXAMINATION OF LARRY GERACI 

BY MICHAEL R. WEINSTEIN 

(RT 58:18-19) 
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1       MR. WEINSTEIN:  The plaintiffs call Larry

2  Geraci.

3       THE COURT:  All right.  Good morning,

4  Mr. Geraci.

5              Larry Geraci,

6  being called on behalf of the plaintiff, having been

7  first duly sworn, testified as follows:

8

9       THE CLERK:  Please state your full name and

10  spell your first and last name for the record.

11       THE WITNESS:  Larry Geraci.  L-a-r-r-y

12  G-e-r-a-c-i.

13       THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you very much.

14       Counsel, whenever you're ready, please begin

15  your examination.

16       MR. WEINSTEIN:  Thank you.

17        (Direct examination of Larry Geraci)

18  BY MR. WEINSTEIN:

19    Q   Good morning, Mr. Geraci.

20    A   Good morning.

21    Q   How old are you?

22    A   Fifty-eight.

23    Q   And are you married?

24    A   Widowed.

25    Q   Do you have any children?

26    A   Five.

27    Q   What are their ages?

28    A   33, 28.  I have 25, 19 and 12.

Transcript of Proceedings Geraci vs. Cotton, et al.

www.aptusCR.com

Transcript of Proceedings Geraci vs. Cotton, et al.

www.aptusCR.com
Page 54
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1    Q   In connection with -- we'll get to it.  But in

2  connection with the transaction, the sale of -- the

3  purchase and sale of his property, in connection with

4  any communications with Mr. Cotton, did you indicate to

5  him that you operated or owned multiple dispensaries?

6    A   No, I didn't.

7    Q   Did you talk to him about anybody within your

8  team that managed or operated dispensaries?

9    A   No, I didn't.

10    Q   Okay.  Now, when did you first have any

11  communication with Darryl Cotton?

12    A   About mid July.

13    Q   And why did you contact -- first of all, what

14  year?

15    A   2016.

16    Q   Why did you contact Mr. Cotton or have

17  communication with him in July of 2016?

18    A   The team had identified a property on Federal

19  Boulevard that may qualify for a dispensary.

20    Q   Okay.  And you mentioned the team.  What was

21  the team?

22    A   Jim Bartell, Abhay Schweitzer, and Gina Austin.

23    Q   And when did you form -- for what purposes was

24  that team formed?

25    A   They were going to facilitate to proceed to get

26  the CUP on Mr. Cotton's property.

27    Q   When did you first hire Mr. Bartell?

28    A   In October of 2015.
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1    Q   Now, at that time, had you had any contact with

2  Mr. Cotton?

3    A   No, I didn't.

4    Q   So why did you -- well, first of all, can you

5  tell the jury who Mr. Bartell is, to your understanding.

6    A   Mr. Bartell is a liaison lobbyist between

7  myself and the City.

8       MR. WEINSTEIN:  Okay.  I'm going to show the

9  witness a stipulated exhibit, Exhibit 1.

10       THE COURT:  Any objection if Exhibit 20 is

11  admitted, Counsel?

12       MR. AUSTIN:  No.

13       MR. WEINSTEIN:  Exhibit 1.  It's Exhibit 1.

14       THE COURT:  Exhibit 1?

15       MR. WEINSTEIN:  Yes.

16       THE COURT:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Any objection to

17  the admission of Exhibit 1?

18       MR. AUSTIN:  No, your Honor.

19       THE COURT:  Exhibit 1 will be admitted.

20       (Premarked Joint Exhibit 1, Letter of Agreement

21       with Bartell & Associates dated 10/29/15, was

22       admitted into evidence.)

23  BY MR. WEINSTEIN:

24    Q   Mr. Geraci, there are books up there.  If it's

25  easier for you, there are books up there.

26       THE COURT:  Counsel, they may have been moved.

27  Do you want to approach?

28       MR. WEINSTEIN:  If you need to look at the
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1       MR. WEINSTEIN:  Thank you.

2       (Direct examination of Rebecca Berry)

3  BY MR. WEINSTEIN:

4    Q   Ms. Berry, are you -- first of all, let's talk

5  about your education.  Have you graduated from high

6  school?

7    A   Yes.

8    Q   And when?

9    A   1967.

10    Q   From where?

11    A   Granite Hills High School.

12    Q   And did you take college after that?

13    A   Some college.

14    Q   Where at?

15    A   Grossmont College.

16    Q   And when was that?

17    A   1968 and then 10 years later, I took classes

18  probably in -- no.  Fifteen years later.  So --

19    Q   Okay.  And did you get a degree from Grossmont?

20    A   No.

21    Q   Okay.  Other than attending Grossmont, have you

22  attended any -- any schooling since you graduated from

23  high school?

24    A   Real estate and as the real estate broker

25  ministerial training.

26    Q   Okay.  And let's take the latter first.  Would

27  you -- did you say ministerial training?

28    A   Yes.
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1  or broker with respect to the sale of -- the agreement

2  to sell property that's the subject of this lawsuit?

3    A   No.

4    Q   Okay.  Were you involved at all in the

5  negotiation of -- of that agreement?

6    A   No.

7    Q   Do you know Darryl Cotton?

8    A   No.

9    Q   Have you -- when is the first time you ever saw

10  him?

11    A   Yesterday in the courtroom.

12    Q   Okay.  Have you ever spoken to him on the

13  phone?

14    A   No.

15    Q   Have you ever seen him in the office?

16    A   No.

17    Q   Okay.  Now, are you currently employed?

18    A   Yes.

19    Q   And by whom?

20    A   Tax and Financial as the real estate broker and

21  through my church as a teacher and counselor.

22    Q   Okay.  Let's focus on Tax and Financial.

23       How long have you worked at Tax and Financial

24  Center?

25    A   Almost 15 years.

26    Q   And what's your current job position at Tax and

27  Financial Center?

28    A   I'm an assistant to Larry Geraci, and I manage
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1  the office.

2    Q   And how long have you been in that position?

3    A   Almost 15 years.

4    Q   So the entire time you've been there?

5    A   Yes.

6    Q   Now, in -- as you know, this case -- do you

7  know -- do you understand this case involves an attempt

8  to obtain a CUP conditional use permit to operate a

9  dispensary at a property that Mr. Geraci was attempting

10  to purchase?

11    A   Yes.

12    Q   Okay.  Were you the applicant on that CUP

13  application?

14    A   Yes.

15    Q   Okay.  And as -- as the applicant -- as the

16  applicant, did you understand that you were acting at

17  all times as the agent for and on behalf of Mr. Geraci?

18    A   Yes.

19    Q   Why -- what was your understanding as to why

20  you were the applicant on that CUP application?

21    A   Mr. Geraci has a federal license, and we were

22  afraid that it might affect it at some point.

23    Q   What lines -- what federal license is that?

24    A   He's an enrolled agent.

25    Q   And did you have a discussion with him about

26  the fact that there was a possibility or it was unknown

27  whether him being an applicant on the property would

28  affect his enrolled agent license?
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1    A   Yes.

2    Q   All right.  Were there any other reasons that

3  you recall that you were the applicant -- chose to be

4  the applicant on the project?

5    A   No.

6    Q   Were you willing and -- were you willing to be

7  the applicant on the project as Mr. Geraci's agent?

8    A   Yes.

9    Q   Now, in connection with the CUP application

10  project, were you involved at all in the communications

11  with the City?

12    A   Yes.

13    Q   Okay.  And what was your involvement in

14  communications with the City?

15    A   They -- I -- what I would do is if I got any

16  information, I would simply direct it to Mr. Geraci or

17  his team.

18    Q   Okay.

19    A   And then I made no decisions.

20    Q   Okay.  And so did you also have any

21  communications with the team that Mr. Geraci had put

22  together to pursue the CUP application?

23    A   I had some interaction.

24    Q   And -- and which members of the team do you

25  recall having interaction with?

26    A   Abhay.

27    Q   That's Mr. Schweitzer?

28    A   Mr. Schweitzer.
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1     I, Margaret A. Smith, a Certified Shorthand

2  Reporter, No. 9733, State of California, RPR, CRR, do

3  hereby certify:

4     That I reported stenographically the proceedings

5  held in the above-entitled cause; that my notes were

6  thereafter transcribed with Computer-Aided

7  Transcription; and the foregoing transcript, consisting

8  of pages number from 1 to 215, inclusive, is a full,

9  true and correct transcription of my shorthand notes

10  taken during the proceeding had on July 3, 2019.

11     IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand

12  this 22nd day of July 2019.

13

14       ________________________________________

15       Margaret A. Smith, CSR No. 9733, RPR, CRR

16
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SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA, OCTOBER 25, 2019, FRIDAY, 9:00 AM 

--0O0-- 

THE COURT:  Item five, Geraci versus Cotton, case

number 10073.

MR. WEINSTEIN:  Good morning, Your Honor.

Michael Weinstein and Scott Toothacre on behalf of

Mr. Geraci and Ms. Berry, who is not a part of this

conference.

THE COURT:  And Counsel?

MR. SCHUBE:  Good morning, Your Honor.  

Evan Schube on behalf of Mr. Cotton.

THE COURT:  All right.  Did I hear you two say

that you were submitting?

MR. WEINSTEIN:  Yeah.  We are submitting, Your

Honor, with time to respond.

THE COURT:  All right.  Counsel?  

MR. SCHUBE:  Thank you.  I'll get to the

illegality of the contract issue first.  The fact is it

cuts to the heart of the motion that we filed and the

biggest issue.

A couple of items I wanted to raise with the Court, a

couple of factual items I wanted to raise with the Court.  

First one, on Exhibit H of our motion, is a leave to

file the application to CUP Applications that were filed.

In general application, which is Trial Exhibit 4200, it's

states that "Notice of violation is required to be

disclosed," and skip back to page four of the same Trial

Exhibit, the Ownership Disclosure Statement, it also says,
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"the name of any person of interest in the property must

also be disclosed," and it states to potentially attach

pages if needed.

THE COURT:  So you are saying the contract is

unenforceable?

MR. SCHUBE:  Yes.

THE COURT:  As a matter of law?

MR. SCHUBE:   Yes.  CUP was a condition precedent

to the contract.

THE COURT:  Counsel, up until this point in time,

this case was filed in 017.  Your side has been screaming

at the Court and filed multiple writs asking me to

adjudicate the contract as a matter of law in favor of your

side.  

Now you are asking me in, after an adverse finding, to

adjudicate the law for the other side?  You are doing a 180.

Truly, you are doing a 180.

MR. SCHUBE:  I came in on a limited scope.  I

don't have the background.

THE COURT:  I do.  They do.  They have been

sitting --

MR. SCHUBE:  But my understanding was there were

the motions that were made were based upon my clients

understanding of what the agreement is which is not

specifically related to the November 2, 2016 agreement that

the jury found.  Our motion is a bit more limited in that

regard.  I may be wrong.  That's my understanding of the

background of the case.
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THE COURT:  Again, from the Court's perspective as

a matter of law up to this point.  You have been asking me

to adjudicate the contract in your favor.  Now you're

asking the Court to adjudicate the contract as a matter of

law against the other side.

Counsel, shouldn't this have been raised at some

earlier point in time?

MR. SCHUBE:  Should it have, Your Honor?  My

personal opinion is that it should have been raised before

but it was not and we are where we are and so hence, the

reason why we're raising the issue now on a Motion for New

Trial.

I think what has been referred to before, the

illegality argument has been raised before and raised in the

context of reference to State Law and Section 2640 of the

California Business and Professions Code.  I believe what

was not conveyed to the Court was that these requirements

for these forms, the specific provisions in the San Diego

Municipal Code that require those disclosures and require

applicant provide information.

The information was not provided.  And --

THE COURT:  Even if you are correct, hasn't that

train come and gone?  The judgment has been entered.  You

are raising this for the first time.  

MR. SCHUBE:  Your Honor, illegality of the

contract can be raised any time whether in the beginning or

during the case or on appeal.

THE COURT:  So it's akin to a jurisdictional
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challenge?

MR. SCHUBE:  I don't know if it's akin to a

jurisdictional challenge, but the issue can be raised.

THE COURT:  But at some point, doesn't your side

waive the right to assert this argument?  At some point?

MR. SCHUBE:  I am not suggesting we waived that.

The Case Law I saw in the motion cited that there is a duty

and the duty continues and so I am not aware if there is

anything that suggests that we waived that argument.

THE COURT:  Anything else, Counsel?

MR. SCHUBE:  The other thing I'd like to point

out, Section 11.0401 of San Diego Municipal Code

specifically states that "every applicant prior be

furnished true and complete information."  And that's

obviously not what happened here.  I think it's undisputed

and the reasoning for the failure to disclose, there is no

exception to either the San Diego Municipal Code or failure

to disclose.

THE COURT:  Thank you, very much.

MR. SCHUBE:  Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT:  I am not inclined to change the

Court's view.  Did either one of you need to be heard?

MR. TOOTHACRE:  Just to make a record.  One

comment with respect to the illegality argument. 

Obviously, we agree with the comments of the Court but the

failure to make these disclosures in the CUP, it doesn't

make the contract between Geraci and Cotton unenforceable.

It's one thing to say that the contract or the form wasn't
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properly filled out, that doesn't make the contract

unenforceable.  That's all we have for the record.

THE COURT:  Counsel, the Court observed this case

throughout the entirety, including at trial.  Quite

frankly, I thought your client did well on the witness

stand.  Truly.  

But the jury categorically rejected your side's claim

and I am persuaded everybody got a fair trial here.  The

Court confirms the tentative ruling as the order of the

Court.  I will direct Plaintiff's side to serve Notice of

the Decision.  Thank you very much.

MR. WEINSTEIN:  Thank you, Your Honor.

MR. TOOTHACRE:  Thank you, Your Honor.

(END OF PROCEEDING AT 9:23 AM) 
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SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA     ) 
) SS: 

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO ) 

 

 

 

 
 
 

I, ELIZABETH M. CESENA, CSR 12266, A COURT-APPROVED  
REPORTER OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA, IN AND FOR THE COUNTY 
OF SAN DIEGO, DO HEREBY CERTIFY THAT I REPORTED IN SHORTHAND 
THE PROCEEDINGS, TO THE BEST OF MY ABILITY, IN THE 
ABOVE-ENTITLED CAUSE AND THAT THE FOREGOING 
TRANSCRIPT, NUMBERED FROM PAGES 1 TO 7, IS A 
FULL, TRUE AND CORRECT TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS HELD ON 
OCTOBER 25, 2019.                                 
 
 
 

SAN DIEGO, CALIFORNIA, DATED THIS 9TH DAY OF 
 
JUNE, 2020. 
 
 

 
 
 

____________________________ 
 

ELIZABETH M. CESENA, CSR 12266 
CERTIFIED SHORTHAND REPORTER 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
 

 
ANDREW FLORES, et al., 
 

  Plaintiffs, 

  
Case No. 20-cv-656-BAS-MDD 
 
ORDER DENYING MOTION 
FOR TEMPORARY 
RESTRAINING ORDER 
 
[ECF Nos. 2] 

 
 v. 
 
GINA M. AUSTIN, et al., 
 

  Defendants. 
 

 
Plaintiffs Andrew Flores, Amy Sherlock, and Jane Doe filed a 173-page 

complaint against 38 defendants.  (ECF No. 1.)  They allege civil rights violations 

under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, make a “neglect to perform wrongful act” cause of action, 

and seek various forms of declaratory relief.  The complaint is almost impossible to 

summarize due to its length and confusing nature. 

Plaintiffs also filed a motion for temporary restraining order (“TRO”).  (ECF 

No. 2-1.)  Plaintiffs seek six forms of relief in the motion, including requests for 

orders to show cause, sanctions, and orders compelling various Defendants’ 

appearances.  The motion contains no support behind these latter requests; thus, the 

Court only analyzes the motion for temporary restraining order.  Plaintiffs seek a 

TRO on their declaratory relief cause of action—that the judgment in Larry Geraci 
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v. Darryl Cotton, San Diego County Superior Court, Case No. 37-2017- 00010073-

CU-BC-CTL (what Plaintiffs call “Cotton I”) is void “pursuant to the equitable 

doctrine of a fraud on the court.”  (ECF No. 2-1, at 18.) 

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 65, the court may issue a 

temporary restraining order without written or oral notice to the adverse party or its 

attorney only if: “specific facts in an affidavit or a verified complaint clearly show 

that immediate and irreparable injury, loss, or damage will result to the movant 

before the adverse party can be heard in opposition;” and “the movant’s attorney 

certifies in writing any efforts made to give notice and the reasons why it should not 

be required.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 65(b).  Plaintiffs have not provided any Defendant 

notice of the motion for TRO, and the Rule 65(b) requirements have not been met.  

Instead, Plaintiffs claim in their notice of motion that “the granting of this 

Application without notice to defendants is appropriate in order to not allow 

[Defendant Aaron] Magagna time to consummate the sale of the District Four CUP 

or to allow defendants time to threaten, coerce or intimidate [Defendant Corina] 

Young from providing her testimony or into committing perjury.”  (ECF No. 2, at 3.)  

This reasoning is unclear, and in any event, these are not specific facts made in an 

affidavit, nor has Plaintiffs’ attorney (who is Flores) certified in writing why notice 

should not be required.  Thus, the Court DENIES the Motion for Temporary 

Restraining Order without prejudice.  (ECF No. 2.) 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 

DATED: April 20, 2020        
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In the  

United States Court of Appeals  
For the  

Ninth Circuit 
 

 
IN RE ANDREW FLORES, an individual, AMY SHERLOCK, on her own behalf and on behalf of 

her minor children, T.S. and S.S., and Jane Doe, and individual, 

Petitioners, 

vs. 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE  
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, 

 
Respondent, 

 
GINA M. AUSTIN, an individual, AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP APC, a California Corporation; JOEL 

R. WOHLFEIL, an individual; LAWRENCE (AKA LARRY) GERACI, an individual; TAX & 
FINANCIAL CENTER, INC., a California Corporation; REBECCA BERRY, an individual;  

JESSICA MCELFRESH, an individual; SALAM RAZUKI, an individual; NINUS MALAN, an 
individual;  MICHAEL ROBERT WEINSTEIN, an individual; SCOTT TOOTHACRE, an individual; 

ELYSSA KULAS, an individual; RACHEL M. PRENDERGAST, an individual; FERRIS & 
BRITTON APC, a California Corporation;  DAVID DEMIAN, an individual, ADAM C. WITT, an 
individual, RISHI S. BHATT, an individual, FINCH, THORTON, and BAIRD, a Limited Liability 
Partnership; JAMES D. CROSBY, an individual; ABHAY SCHWEITZER, an individual and dba 

TECHNE; JAMES (AKA JIM) BARTELL, an individual; BARTELL & ASSOCIATES, a California 
Corporation; MATTHEW WILLIAM SHAPIRO, an individual;   MATTHEW W. SHAPIRO, APC, a 
California corporation; NATALIE TRANG-MY NGUYEN, an individual, AARON MAGAGNA, an 

individual; A-M INDUSTRIES, INC., a California Corporation; BRADFORD HARCOURT, an 
individual; ALAN CLAYBON, an individual; SHAWN MILLER, an individual; LOGAN 

STELLMACHER, an individual; EULENTHIAS DUANE ALEXANDER, an individual; BIANCA 
MARTINEZ; an individual; THE CITY OF SAN DIEGO, a municipality; 2018FMO, LLC, a 

California Limited Liability Company; FIROUZEH TIRANDAZI, an individual; STEPHEN G. 
CLINE, an individual; JOHN DOE, an individual; JOHN EK, an individual; THE EK FAMILY 

TRUST, 1994 Trust; 

Real Parties In Interest. 

  
 

FROM A DECISION OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF 
CALIFORNIA 

CASE NO. 20-CV-656-BAS-DEB 
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DECLARATION OF ANDREW FLORES, IN SUPPORT OF PETITIONER’S WRIT OF 
MANDATE 

 

 
 

ANDREW FLORES,  
945 4th Avenue, Suite 412  
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619.256.1556  
Facsimile:  619.274.8053 
Andrew@FloresLegal.Pro 

Petitioner In Propria Persona, 
and attorney for Petitioners 
Amy Sherlock and her minor  
children T.S. and S.S. 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
I, ANDREW FLORES, declare: 

Case: 20-71813, 06/25/2020, ID: 11733706, DktEntry: 1-6, Page 2 of 4
(172 of 184)



 

3 
DECLARATION OF ANDREW FLORES IN SUPPORT OF PETITIONER’S WRIT OF MANDATE 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

1. I am over the age of eighteen years and am both a Plaintiff Pro Per and 
Attorney for Amy Sherlock, her minor children T.S. and S.S. 

2. I am admitted to practice law in this jurisdiction, California Bar No. 272958, 
and before this court. 

3. Plaintiffs, for the purposes of this lawsuit, waived any potential conflict and 
have agreed that there is no actual conflict at this time. This waiver by and between 
Plaintiffs at this point in time is not a direct or indirect waiver of any applicable privilege 
as to any third parties. 

4. The facts set forth herein are true and correct as of my own personal 
knowledge. 

5. This declaration is submitted in support of Petitioner’s Writ of Mandate in 
the case captioned above. 

6. In January 2020, I believed I was done preparing the complaint for the 
underlying action and intended to name Young as a co-conspirator of Geraci. I spoke 
with Young and was direct, informing her that by failing to provide her promised 
testimony she was effectively a co-conspirator of Geraci, and I would seek to have her 
held civilly liable.  Further, that it was possible after the civil action was concluded, and 
factual findings had been made, that such could lead to criminal charges being filed 
against her.  

7. Immediately, Young broke down and said she had done nothing illegal and 
that it was Nguyen’s unilateral decision to not provide Young’s testimony.   

8. Additionally, Young alleged that (i) Nguyen was referred to her by Shapiro, 
(ii) Shapiro paid Nguyen’s legal fees for representing Young, and (iii) Nguyen – in an 
email – told her that it was OK to “ignore” their obligation to provide Young’s testimony 
because “it was too late for Cotton to do anything about it” (the “Young Allegations”). 

9. As the exclusive result of Respondent’s Order, Jane Doe’s estate withdrew 
its consent for my office to continue to represent Jane Doe in this action. 

10. At the time of her death, Jane was not married and is survived by her 87-
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year old mother and her two year old son.  
11. Jane’s mother, the representative of Jane’s estate, withdrew its consent 

because she believes that Judge Bashant is motivated to cover-up Judge Wohlfeil’s 
incompetence. Throughout Cotton I, Geraci’s attorneys assassinated the character and 
integrity of Cotton, Cotton’s attorneys and supporters.  Jane’s mother does not want 
Jane’s reputation to be maligned and she believes the Order reflects that Judge Bashant 
cannot be trusted to apply the law impartially and would allow Geraci’s attorneys to 
assassinate her character if such would help distract from Judge Wohlfeil’s incompetence 
 

I declare under penalty of perjury according to the laws of the State of California 
that the foregoing is true and correct, and that this declaration was executed on June 23, 
2020 at San Diego, California. 
         
 ________________________________________ 
    ANDREW FLORES 
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In the  

United States Court of Appeals  
For the  

Ninth Circuit 
 

 
IN RE ANDREW FLORES, an individual, AMY SHERLOCK, on her own behalf and on behalf of 

her minor children, T.S. and S.S., and Jane Doe, and individual, 

Petitioners, 

vs. 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE  
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA, 

 
Respondent, 

 
GINA M. AUSTIN, an individual, AUSTIN LEGAL GROUP APC, a California Corporation; JOEL 

R. WOHLFEIL, an individual; LAWRENCE (AKA LARRY) GERACI, an individual; TAX & 
FINANCIAL CENTER, INC., a California Corporation; REBECCA BERRY, an individual;  

JESSICA MCELFRESH, an individual; SALAM RAZUKI, an individual; NINUS MALAN, an 
individual;  MICHAEL ROBERT WEINSTEIN, an individual; SCOTT TOOTHACRE, an individual; 

ELYSSA KULAS, an individual; RACHEL M. PRENDERGAST, an individual; FERRIS & 
BRITTON APC, a California Corporation;  DAVID DEMIAN, an individual, ADAM C. WITT, an 
individual, RISHI S. BHATT, an individual, FINCH, THORTON, and BAIRD, a Limited Liability 
Partnership; JAMES D. CROSBY, an individual; ABHAY SCHWEITZER, an individual and dba 

TECHNE; JAMES (AKA JIM) BARTELL, an individual; BARTELL & ASSOCIATES, a California 
Corporation; MATTHEW WILLIAM SHAPIRO, an individual;   MATTHEW W. SHAPIRO, APC, a 
California corporation; NATALIE TRANG-MY NGUYEN, an individual, AARON MAGAGNA, an 

individual; A-M INDUSTRIES, INC., a California Corporation; BRADFORD HARCOURT, an 
individual; ALAN CLAYBON, an individual; SHAWN MILLER, an individual; LOGAN 

STELLMACHER, an individual; EULENTHIAS DUANE ALEXANDER, an individual; BIANCA 
MARTINEZ; an individual; THE CITY OF SAN DIEGO, a municipality; 2018FMO, LLC, a 

California Limited Liability Company; FIROUZEH TIRANDAZI, an individual; STEPHEN G. 
CLINE, an individual; JOHN DOE, an individual; JOHN EK, an individual; DARRYL COTTON, an 

individual; THE EK FAMILY TRUST, 1994 Trust; 

Real Parties In Interest. 

  
 

FROM A DECISION OF THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF 
CALIFORNIA 

CASE NO. 20-CV-656-BAS-DEB 
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DECLARATION OF JACOB AUSTIN, IN SUPPORT OF PETITIONER’S WRIT OF 
MANDATE 

 

 
 

ANDREW FLORES,  
945 4th Avenue, Suite 412  
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619.256.1556  
Facsimile:  619.274.8053 
Andrew@FloresLegal.Pro 

Petitioner In Propria Persona, 
and attorney for Petitioners 
Amy Sherlock and her minor  
children T.S. and S.S. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

/// 

/// 
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 I, JACOB AUSTIN, declare: 
 
1. I am over the age of eighteen years. 
2. I am an attorney duly licensed in the State of California with my primary 

place of business in San Diego County (SBN#290303).  
3. The facts set forth herein are true and correct as of my own personal 

knowledge or belief. 
4. This declaration is submitted in support of Writ of Mandamus by Andrew 

Flores.  
5. I am the attorney of record for Mr. Darryl Cotton in the matter of Geraci v. 

Cotton, 37-2017-00010073 which was originally filed in March of 2017. 
6. I was engaged on a limited basis to do research and file a motion to expunge 

the Lis Pendens put on 6176 Federal Blvd. San Diego, CA 92114 by Larry Geraci. 
7. On or around May 27, 2018, Coring Young met with Joe Hurtado to discuss 

the investment proposal. 
8. Jim Bartell, a political lobbyist told Young that he “owns” the Berry 

Application and that he was getting it denied with the City “because everyone hates 
Darryl” (the “Bartell Statement”). 

9. Young subsequently engaged Bartell for a cannabis application at a different 
location. 

10. Cotton expressed his desire to sue Magagna as a co-conspirator of Geraci, 
to which Young responded by stating that she did not believe Magagna would engage in 
fraudulent conduct. Young met with Magagna and explained Cotton believed him to be 
a co-conspirator of Geraci. 

11. Young hired attorney Natalie Nguyen who promised to provide Young’s 
testimony confirming, inter alia, the Bartell Statement and Magagna’s attempts at bribing 
and threatening her.  Attached to Petitioner’s Request for Writ of Mandamus as Ex. 3 is 
a true and correct copy of my email correspondence with Nguyen).  Nguyen never 
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provided the promised testimony.  On June 12, 2019, after Nguyen failed to provide 
Young’s testimony for almost six months, despite repeated requests that she do so, I 
emailed Nguyen demanding she provide Young’s promised testimony for the Cotton 
I trial that was scheduled to begin on July 3, 2019.  

12. I subpoenaed Ms. Young for deposition on January 1, 2019 for a deposition 
to be held on January 18, 2019.  Attached here as Exhibit 1 is the Subpoena. 

13. On February 26, 2019 after Nguyen cancelled the deposition, promised to 
provide her client’s written testimony, and never provided such I served a new Notice of 
Deposition on her office notifying her of my intent to depose her client on March 13, 
2019 which is attached here as Exbibit 2.  

14. Because Nguyen never responded the Cotton I trial was held without 
Young’s testimony regarding Bartell or Magagna.  

15. On July 11, 2019 I filed a motion for directed verdict and argued in found 
of Judge Wohlfeil that BPC § 26057(a), using the word “shall,” mandates that the 6176 
Application be denied and that the court would be allowing an action that seeks to enforce 
an illegal contract.  Judge Wohlfeil denied the motion for a directed verdict with no 
explanation.  

 

I declare under penalty of perjury according to the laws of the State of California 
that the foregoing is true and correct, and that this declaration was executed on June 23, 
2020 at San Diego, California. 
 

          
________________________________________ 

                  Jacob Austin 
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0ocuSign E1welope ID: C8956933-11AD-47 A8-B025-G44::SA47!Sl::Ststs£ 

SUBP-015 
ATTORNEY OR PAITTY WITHOUT ATTORNEY (Name, Slatlt Bar number, and address): 

FOR COURT USE ONLY 
- Jacob P. Austin (SBN290303) 

The Law Office of Jacob Austin 
1455 Frazee Road #500 
San Diego CA 92108 

TELEPHONE NO.: (619) 357-6850 FAXNO.(Optional): (888) 357-8501 
E-MAIL ADDRESS (Optional): JP A@JacobAustinEsq.com 

ATTORNEY FOR (NameJ: Defendant/Cross-complainant Darryl Cotton 

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF San Diego 
STREETAooREss: 330 West Broadway 
MA1LINGADDREss: 330 West Broadway 

cITY AND zIP coDE: San Diego 92101 
BRANCH NAME: Hall of Justice 

PLAINTIFF/ PETITIONER: Larry Geraci 
DEFENDANT/ RESPONDENT: Darryl Cotton 

DEPOSITION SUBPOENA 
CASE NUMBER: 

FOR PERSONAL APPEARANCE 2017-37-00010073-CU-BC-CTL 

THE P,EOPLE OF THE ST ATE OF CALIFORNIA, TO (na~, addr,ss, and tel§R..hgne number of deponent, if known): 
cor,na Young 1390 Weers street, El CaJon CA ~Lu20 

1. YOU ARE ORDERED TO APPEAR IN PERSON TO TESTIFY AS A WITNESS in this action at the following date, time, and place: 

Date: January 18, 2019 Time: 10:00 A.M. Address: 

7880 Broadway, Lemon Grove CA 91945 
a. D As a deponent who is not a natural person, you are ordered to designate one or more persons to testify on your behalf as 

to the matters described in item 2. (Code Civ. Proc.,§ 2025.230.) 

b. 0 This deposition will be recorded stenographically D through the instant visual display of testimony 
and by D audiotape C2J videotape. 

c. D This videotape deposition is intended for possible use at trial under Code of Civil Procedure section 2025.620(d). 

2. D If the witness is a representative of a business or other entity, the matters upon which the witness is to be examined are as 
follows: 

3. At the deposition, you will be asked questions under oath. Questions and answers are recorded stenographically at the deposition; 
later they are transcribed for possible use at trial. You may read the written record and change any incorrect answers before you 
sign the deposition. You are entitled to receive witness fees and mileage actually traveled both ways. The money must be paid, at 
the option of the party giving notice of the deposition, either with service of this subpoena or at the time of the deposition. Unless the 
court orders or you agree otherwise, if you are being deposed as an individual, the deposition must take place within 7 5 miles of your 
residence or within 150 miles of your residence ![ the deposition will be taken within the county of the court where the action is 
pending. The location of the deposition for all deponents is governed by Code of Civil Procedure section 2025.250. 

DISOBEDIENCE OF THIS SUBPOENA MAY BE PUNISHED AS CONTEMPT BY THIS COURT. YOU WILL ALSO BE LIABLE 
FOR THE SUM OF $500 AND ALL DAMAGES RESULTING FROM YOUR FAILURE TO OBEY. 

Date issued: January 1, 2019 

Jacob P. Austin 

Form Adopted for Mandatory Use 
Judicial Coonci of Carifomia 

SUBP-015 [Rev. January 1, 2009) 

(TYPE OR PRINT NAME) 
. § I C'ts/tfiJi:1u9lW:l!OF PERSON ISSUING SUBPOENA) 

Attorney at Law 

(Proof of service on reverse) 
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SUBP-015 
CASE NUMBER: PLAINTIFF/PETITIONER: Larry Geraci 

DEFENDANT/RESPONDENT: Darryl Cotton 
2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL 

PROOF OF SERVICE OF DEPOSITION SUBPOENA FOR PERSONAL APPEARANCE 

1. 1 served this Deposition Subpoena for Personal Appearance by personally delivering a copy to the person served as follows: 
a. Person served (name) : Corina Young 

b. Address where served: 1390 Weers Street, El Cajon CA 92020 

c. Date of delivery: January 2, 2019 

d. Time of delivery: 

e. Witness fees and mileage both ways (check one): 
(1) [ZJ were paid. Amount: . . . . . . . . . . . $ _4_3_.0_0 ___ _ 
(2) D were not paid. 
(3) D were tendered to the witness's 

public entity employer as 
required by Government Code 
section 68097 .2. The amount 
tendered was (specify) : . . . . . . . . $ ______ _ 

$ f. Fee for service: . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . ______ _ 

2. I received this subpoena for service on (date): January 2, 2019 

3. Person serving: 
a. W Not a registered California process server 
b. D California sheriff or marshal 
c. D Registered California process server 
d. D Employee or independent contractor of a registered California process server 
e. D Exempt from registration under Business and Professions Code section 22350(b) 
f. D Registered professional photocopier 
g. D Exempt from registration under Business and Professions Code section 22451 
h. Name, address, telephone number, and, if applicable, county of registration and number: 

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of 
California that the foregoing is true and correct. 

(For California sheriff or marshal use only) 
I certify that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Date: January 2, 2019 Date: 

► 
(SIGNATURE) 

SUBP--015 [Rev. January 1. 2009] 
PROOF OF SERVICE OF 

DEPOSITION SUBPOENA FOR PERSONAL APPEARANCE 
Page2 of 2 
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Jacob P. Austin [SBN 290303] 
The Law Office of Jacob Austin 
P.O. Box 231189 
San Diego, CA  92193 
Telephone: (619) 357.6850 
Facsimile: (888) 357.8501 
Email:  JPA@JacobAustinEsq.com 
 
Attorney for Defendant/Cross-Complainant DARRYL COTTON 
 
 

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO – CENTRAL DIVISION 

 

LARRY GERACI, an individual, 

  Plaintiff, 

    vs. 

DARRYL COTTON, an individual; and 
DOES 1-10, Inclusive, 
 
  Defendants. 
 
 
DARRYL COTTON, an individual, 

  Cross-Complainant, 

    vs. 

LARRY GERACI, and individual, REBECCA 
BERRY, an individual; and DOES 1 through 10, 
Inclusive, 
 
  Cross-Defendants. 
_________________________________________ 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

CASE NO. 37-2017-00010073-CU-BC-CTL 
 
NOTICE OF TAKING DEPOSITION OF 
CORINA YOUNG 
 

TO ALL PARTIES AND THEIR ATTORNEYS OF RECORD: 

 YOU AND EACH OF YOU will please take notice that Defendant/Cross-Complainant DARRYL 

COTTON will take the Deposition of witness CORINA YOUNG on MARCH 11, 2019 commencing at 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

10:00 a.m. at 7880 Broadway, Lemon Grove, California 91945 (619) 356-1556. upon oral examination 

before a Certified Shorthand Reporter.  Said Deposition will continue from day to day, Saturdays, 

Sundays, and holidays excepted, until completed. 

Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 2025.220, Defendant/Cross-Complainant DARRYL 

COTTON gives notice of his intention to record the testimony via audiotape, videotape, and/or 

stenographic methods with instant display of testimony and reserves the right to use any videotaped 

portion of the Deposition testimony at Trial in this matter.  
 

 

DATED: February 26, 2019  THE LAW OFFICE OF JACOB AUSTIN 

 

By____________________________________________ 
JACOB P. AUSTIN 

Attorney for Defendant/Cross-Complainant 
      DARRYL COTTON 
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